# University of Alberta

# An Interpretive Inquiry into the Experience of Highly Ethical Psychologists

by

Ann Marie Dewhurst



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in Counselling Psychology

**Educational Psychology** 

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2006

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-23014-5 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-23014-5

# NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

# AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



#### Abstract

This study is an interpretive inquiry, informed by hermeneutic phenomenology, exploring the experience of highly ethical psychologists. Snowball sampling was used to identify six psychologists who are exemplars of ethical practice. The exemplars in this study affirmed that virtues and utilitarian values co-exist within the relationships of their lives. The exemplars clarified that the personal virtues of integrity, honesty and humility were as important to their ethical practice as professional competency. Further these exemplars discussed how they grounded their ethics in a supportive community that inspired them to continue their ethical development. Finally, they spoke about the power of mindfulness and the integration of professional choices with personal awareness in the creation and maintenance of their ethical practice.

## Acknowledgements

I am thankful for all those who supported me in the completion of this dissertation.

The participants in this study offered willing shared their experience and wisdom.

Derek Truscott generously shared his love of ethics and his passion for writing. I enjoyed our conversations about all things psychologically ethical.

Wendy Austin inspired me to think phenomenologically. She encouraged me to write and re-write and provided a wonderful writing environment.

The Correctional Service of Canada provided me with two years of fully funded education leave to make this degree possible. I appreciated the leadership of Jan Fox, Bill Green and Dave Chapman in championing my educational cause.

My *nimis* Karen inspired me to do more than I thought was possible and reminded me to relax and not take myself too seriously.

My "little sister" Brenda always seemed to "get it" and had the habit of phoning at just the right time.

Karen Shulhan kept me strong and convinced me that I could do "one more hard thing".

My friends and family listened to my stories and supported me through this process. Their faith in me was unending and much appreciated.

My husband Dale provided me with nurturing, love and everything I might want to know about philosophy and ethics. He was my true partner in this process. To my husband, Dale Dewhurst, who walked this journey with me, inspired me to

keep going and kept me on my path.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

A JOURNEY BEGINS	1
THE ETHICAL LANDSCAPE	5
THE CHALLENGE OF BEING AN ETHICAL PSYCHOLOGIST	6
Scanning the Horizon of Psychological Ethics	
Deontology	
Consequentialism	
TAKING A CLOSER LOOK AT THE HORIZON	
Virtue ethics	
Feminist Ethics and Ethics of Care.	
Relational Ethics	
INTERPRETING THE MORAL LANDSCAPE	
Moral Development Theory	
A ROUTE EMERGES	
Reading the map of psychological ethics	
Ethical decision-making models	
AN OVERVIEW THE PSYCHOLOGICAL ETHICS LANDSCAPE	
PLANNING THE ROUTE, PACKING A BAG AND PICKING TRAVELING	COMPANIONS
PLANNING A QUALITATIVE RESEARCH ROUTE	
INTERPRETIVE INQUIRY	
The Nature of Phenomenological Research	
Hermeneutical Phenomenology	
SEEKING EXEMPLARS	
The Process of Discovering Exemplars	
DESCRIPTION OF EXEMPLARS	41
The Interview Process	
A QUIRK OF THE PROCESS	43
Reflecting on the Process	
Соммітмент	45
MOVING INTO THE JOURNEY	47
THE LONG AND WINDING ROAD TO COMPETENCE	
REGISTERED PSYCHOLOGISTS ARE COMPETENT PSYCHOLOGISTS, AREN'T THEY?	50
ETHICAL VULNERABILITY	
DEFINING COMPETENCY AS A PSYCHOLOGIST	
ETHICAL ON-THE-JOB-TRAINING	
IMAGES OF ETHICAL PSYCHOLOGISTS THAT GUIDE US.	
ANOTHER IMAGE OF ETHICAL PSYCHOLOGISTS: THE CRONE	
ETHICAL ORIENTEERING ON THE LONG AND WINDING ROAD	
THE TRAVELLER	72
AN EXEMPLAR OF ETHICS	
VIRTUE AND PSYCHOLOGICAL ETHICS	
THE PERSONAL IS PROFESSIONAL	
THE TENSORAL IS T NOT ESSIONAL	
Developing the Habit OF Being Ethical	
THE NATURE/NURTURE DEBATE FOR DEVELOPING ETHICAL PSYCHOLOGISTS	
THE IMPORTANT THING IS THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THERAPIST AND CLIENT	
HONESTY	
INTEGRITY	
HUMILITY	
THE LINK BETWEEN THE PERSONAL AND THE PROFESSIONAL	

<b>OH, THE PLACES YOU'LL GO! – THE ETHICAL ENVIRONMENT</b>	
SETTING OUT ON THE ROAD Location, Location, Location Trouble Detection Early Warning Systems Creation of A Professional Community Stories from Shared Professional Space The Role of Clients in the Professional 's Community The Contributions of Communities to Ethical Practice	
REFLECTING ON THE ROAD TRAVELLED	
MINDFULNESS BREATHING ETHICS INTO PROFESSIONAL LIFE ETHICS AS A STARTING PLACE ETHICAL FLOW WHERE YOU ARE GOING IS CONNECTED TO WHERE YOU HAVE BEEN. ORIENTATION TO ETHICAL PRACTICE BUILDING ETHICS THROUGH CULTIVATION AND DEDICATION	
ARRIVING	
Recommendations	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: INVITATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE IDENTIFICATION O EXEMPLARS	
STUDY	
APPENDIX C: SAMPLE INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	

#### **A Journey Begins**

**Sam:** It's like in the great stories, Mr. Frodo. The ones that really mattered. Full of darkness and danger they were. And sometimes you didn't want to know the end. Because how could the end be happy. How could the world go back to the way it was when so much bad had happened? But in the end, it is only a passing thing, this shadow. Even darkness must past. A new day will come. And when the sun shines, it will shine out the clearer. Those were the stories that stayed with you. That meant something. Even if you were too small to understand why. But I think, Mr. Frodo, I do understand. I know now. Folks in those stories had lots of chances of turning back, only they didn't. Because they were holding onto something.

Frodo: What are we holding onto, Sam?

**Sam:** That there's some good in this world, Mr. Frodo. And it's worth fighting for.

In this scene from Lord of the Rings: The Two Towers (Jackson, 2002), Samwise Gamgee shares an inspiring moment of truth and offers his companion hope for their ongoing journey. He described how the stories of old offer hope in the here and now. He spoke of how people persevered in times of darkness and trouble and how to take hope from those stories.

I can relate to Sam. He was an ordinary Hobbit who encountered the shadow, sought out wiser counsel and kept walking, even when things got darker. I started this research in dark times. I was an ordinary psychologist practicing in an isolated part of the world. Within a relatively short period of time I had several experiences that left me feeling alone in the wilderness wondering if there was a clear road out. Several of the psychologists I worked with, including some I considered my friends, committed significant ethical violations. It seemed that every time I turned around another psychologist had gone under for doing things that not only harmed their clients, but also caused them to stop practicing. These folks were getting into trouble for activities such as sexual harassment of other staff and having affairs with clients. In almost each case I was surprised to learn that the person had made such significant transgressions, they didn't seem like "the type" that might get into trouble. I started to wonder if there were psychologists around who were on the right path.

I remember a former supervisor asking me, "Why are you still there?" This was a good question. My quick answer was that I still had hope, but in the days that followed I found myself wondering if trouble was inevitable. Trouble was something I knew well as a forensic psychologist. Our field focuses on how people come to do bad things. It was clear to me that knowing the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (2000) and understanding the dynamics of how people come to engage in illegal, immoral or unethical behaviour was insufficient to keep a psychologist from transgressing professional boundaries.

The growing darkness affected not only my sense of wellbeing but it was also hurting my environment. There was a cynicism that enveloped our office and to some degree, our larger network of psychologists and other professionals. We found there was a growing disrespect for the profession of psychology within our system. It wasn't unusual for me to attend multidisciplinary meetings and be asked to clarify what had happened to one psychologist or another. People were perplexed about how

such ethical errors could be made. Many people expressed their contempt or confusion for how such "highly educated professionals" could make such "stupid mistakes."

As the darkness intensified with the disclosure of the eighth psychologist getting into serious ethical trouble within a three year period, I needed to do something. It was important to find some sort of light, to seek wiser counsel. Initially, I turned to the College of Alberta Psychologists and found committee work to be comforting. There were psychologists there who seemed to understand ethics in a real sense. It was refreshing when questions about a provisional psychologist's supervision plan would evolve into discussions about whether the plan was ethical. People openly reflected on the Code of Ethics, debated about grey areas and made decisions based on the dialogue. The formal application of the ethical process somehow made ethics more real. I felt hope building. A return to graduate school also helped to illuminate my path and push away the shadow.

Another gift that coincided with graduate studies was my encounter with the literature on "moral distress", particularly when applied to psychologists (Austin, Rankel, Kagan, Bergum & Lemermeyer, 2005). Austin et. al. (2005) defined moral distress as the reaction a person can have when they know the right thing to do but don't do it due to internal constraints, failure or because of external constraints or barriers (Austin et.al., 2005). I was unable in my role as a front-line psychologist to do anything but observe the unethical actions of those around me. The powerlessness of being a witness to so much trouble had indeed been distressing. The darkness now had a name.

The journey became a unifying metaphor as I sat down to write. The journey was from my starting question through to the description of ethical exemplars in the conclusion. I was on a journey of exploration toward a deeper and richer understanding of professional ethics. This study afforded me the opportunity to travel with several psychologists known for taking ethical action. The stories that are told through this study are those of people who are holding onto something. They showed me that there was good in the world and that it is worth working for.

In the chapters that follow the story of this journey will unfold. It was important to explore the landscape to be travelled. Therefore, I start by reviewing the professional literature on psychology and ethics in the first chapter. The second chapter includes a discussion of the preparation undertaken for the study and an introduction to the exemplars who shared their ethical experience. The goal of this journey is to arrive at a rich description of the lived experience of being a highly ethical psychologist.

Four themes emerged from discussions with psychologists Abe, Betty, Carla, Doris, Erika and Faye<sup>1</sup> as they shared their experiences of being highly ethical. Each of these themes, Competence, Virtue, Environment and Mindfulness will be discussed in a separate chapter. Finally, in the concluding chapter of this dissertation the journey ends with a reflection of lessons learned from the road and recommendations for future travels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The names of the participants in this study have been changed to ensure their anonymity.

## The Ethical Landscape

A journey is made up of so much more than the road. It is somewhat ironic that I write elements of this chapter in a moving vehicle on a trip back to the community where my training as a psychologist began. The road has changed a lot since I last came this way. The route is familiar enough that I don't need a map to find my way but it is much more complex than I remember and people are literally moving faster than they did before. The highway has been twinned and the speed limit increased. Yet many parts remain the same. It still takes me through the historical centre of the prairies. I am on the same route that the early pioneers and the RCMP took over 100 years ago as this part of the world became colonized.

I am reminded how important it was to Canadian history that the RCMP moved west in 1883, before the first settlers. The plan was to ensure that settlement was peaceful and that there was respect demonstrated to the Aboriginal people and that there was order in the West. The RCMP's presence confirmed that there were interpersonal and legal standards to be maintained in the face of the wilderness and unexplored realities. In a sense they provided the regulatory backdrop for the moral development of a vast part of a young country (RCMP, 2006).

Psychology is a young discipline not much older than Canada. Like Canada it has its roots in old world traditions. Ethics for psychologists started to emerge as a deliberate area of focus in the 1930's and progressed to the development of the first American Psychological Association's (APA) code of ethics in the 1950's (Pope & Vetter, 1992). Pope & Vetter (1992) described how the APA chose to create "an empirically developed code" based on the experiences of a representative sample of

psychologists. The APA chose to examine and learn about ethical practice from studies of emerging critical incidents and to build from those experiences.

This activity is consistent with the view of Socrates, one of our earliest authorities on ethics. Socrates stated "the unexamined life is not worth living for a human being" (Plato, 1998a). Socrates wanted people to examine their lives so that they could learn how to *be* ethical. He saw ethics as a harmonious state of being of the soul and believed that ethical behaviour followed from a harmonious soul (Plato, 1998b).

# The challenge of being an ethical psychologist

Although being ethical is an essential aspect of being a psychologist, it is not always an easy process (Kaslow, 2004). The literature is rife with articles discussing pitfalls associated with clinical practice (Bersoff, 1999a; Gabbard, 1994; Pope, 1990; Pope & Vetter, 1992; Smith, McGuire, Abbott & Blau, 1991). There is also a wide variety of work written about how to stay out of ethical trouble (Eberlein, 1987; Stevens, 2000; Wilson & Ranft, 1993). This situation may reflect the APA's methodology for developing the original code of ethics. The exercise was, according to Kenneth Pope's account, a direct attempt to ensure that people knew what "trouble" could look like so that psychologists could be supported in avoiding such trouble. Although the practice and teaching of professional ethics for psychologists may have been consistent with the intention of Socrates and Plato, Prilleltensky, Walsh-Bowers & Rossiter, (1996) suggest that psychologists moved away from personal examination and that harm has emerged from the resulting unexamined

expertise of the psychologist. Prilleltensky, Walsh-Bowers and Rossiter (1999) stated that:

In our view, much of the literature on professional ethics remains less than useful because it lacks the lived experience component. Professionals do not see themselves readily reflected in the literature because it is based either on aspirational statements or simplified research vignettes (p. 317).

Prilleltensky et. al. (1999) find that the current state of ethical instruction is not sufficiently helpful for psychologists to find their way. Professional ethics may be considered a map that guides psychologists to their professional destinations. However, a map is only as useful as the data it is based upon and the shared understanding of its purpose. It is appropriate to review the information that puts the current map guiding psychologists, the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (CPA, 2000) into its larger context. This review of the psychological ethics literature will help also define the topography of issues that define the ethical experiences and journeys of the psychologists participating in this study.

Truscott & Crook (2004) suggest that the ethical road for psychologists is in reality a combination of ethics, standards of professional conduct and legal standards. An ongoing, careful exploration of the ethical landscape is therefore important as what is considered ethical may change as the context of practice evolves.

#### Scanning the Horizon of Psychological Ethics

One of the most striking sights on the TransCanada Highway is the rise of the Rocky Mountains on the horizon as you drive westward from Calgary. Initially there

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

seems to be a solid wall of mountain; the individual mountains are not immediately discernable. As you get closer, the individual mountains start to become apparent. What appeared like shadows from a distance become details of trees, bald rock and snow peaks. The names of specific mountains are posted on the road, others go nameless. As one gets closer, the mountains reveal more of themselves as individuals.

This shift of perspective fits with Gadamer's concept of horizon. For Gadamer a horizon is a sphere of understanding about the world that arises from the knower's particular situation or vantage point at a specific time in history (Hathaway, 2004). Hathaway (2004) clarified that a horizon is the range of possible meanings available to a person and that when that person encounters those meanings they reformulate their preconceptions to take up the new meaning and allow it to connect with what is possible within their already known horizon; consequently their horizon expands. The task for the inquiring person is to find clarification and understanding in order to gain a common meaning of a phenomenon.

In this spirit, I considered the horizon of the ethical landscape for psychologists. The first step in considering the landscape is describing what is present. It initially appeared to be a unified view of ethics with perhaps two major peaks. Each peak represented one answer to the question of "what determines good or ethical action. Is it motive or results?" The first peak seemed to be deontological theory, the other consequentialist thought.

#### Deontology.

Kant (1987), the most well-known deontologist, attempted to discover the rational principle that would stand as a categorical imperative or unconditional moral

law applying to all rational beings that would ground all other ethical judgments. The main theme of deontology is the duty to abide by rules, regardless of the consequences (Kant, 1987, Jordan & Meara, 1990). Kant wrote that people should act in such a way that they treat each person with dignity and respect, as an end and never simply as a means (Kant, 1987). This aspect of Kant's teaching has heavily influenced the practice of psychology, especially when applied to issues such as informed consent for research or treatment. Deontologists hold that there are standards independent of the ends for judging what is good (Beauchamp & Childress, 1983). Deontologists focus on what is the right action as directed by the right motive for action, emotion or other non-rational processes have no place in ethical decision-making.

Ethical behaviour for the deontologist is action motivated by, and in compliance with, one's duty. The source of this duty depends upon the type of deontology. The social contract theory argues that members of society collectively agree upon certain duties. Divine deontologists posit that divine authority in the form of religious texts and their accompanying doctrines provide the rules. Reason-based deontologists suggest that ethical conduct is that which any rational person would condone or prescribe based upon his or her application of pure reason (Hadjistavropoulos, & Malloy, 2000, Kant, 1987).

An example of deontological practice applied to psychology arises from the question "what should I do now?" If the response of the psychologist is to look up the rule within the standards of practice established by his or her professional association and follow that rule without question then the psychologist is following a

deontological approach. The motive of the psychologist is to act in accordance with the pre-defined "right" action. If the psychologist does not agree with the rule for some reason it is possible for him or her to question the rule and to seek changes to the rule; however, while the rule stands it should be followed. The measure of the ethical action is the compliance with the rule, not some other action.

#### Consequentialism.

Consequentialism refers to ethical theories where the focus is on the consequences of actions (Beauchamp & Childress, 1983). This perspective holds that morally right actions are determined by the goods (e.g., friendship, pleasure, knowledge, happiness, health or virtue) that they produce. When the question is asked "where do you look to measure the ethics of an action?" consequentialist theory directs you to look at the results or consequences of the action.

For example, supporters of utilitarianism, a form of consequentialism, advocate that action that generates the greatest pleasure and least pain for the greatest number is ethically good (Bentham, 1988, Mill, 1987). The debate between utilitarians comes in examining what constitutes the appropriate pleasures to be pursued and the pains to be avoided. Epicurus, a Hellenistic philosopher credited with developing early utilitarian thought, focused on physical sensation and the pleasures and pain of the individual (Audi, 1995). Bentham (1988) expanded this focus to include the balancing of pleasures and pains to include the greatest good for the greatest number. Mill (1987) emphasized that a consideration of the greatest goods also involved the pleasures and pains of reason and the higher emotions. Followers of rule-utilitarianism advocate that the greatest good is achieved by following prescribed

rules (Hadjistavropoulos & Malloy, 2000) which have been determined to bring the greatest good in the majority of instances. Whatever the specific focus for the utilitarian, the primary questions for utilitarian ethics are "what ought I to do in order to achieve the greatest good for the greatest number?" and "what is the measure of the good?" (Melden, 1967; Mill, 1987).

#### Taking a closer look at the horizon

In considering the ethical horizon for psychologists, it seems too simple for there to be just two perspectives. The literature suggests that although psychologists tend to discuss the deontological and consequentialist schools of philosophical thought (Truscott & Crook, 2004); there appears to be more to the discussion than duty and ends. The issue of the importance of the character of the psychologist or virtue ethics is also an important aspect of the ethical literature. The primarily linear processes of deontology and consequentialism do not speak sufficiently to the experience of psychologists. Therefore, the processes reflected in ethics of care and relational ethics are important to consider as well. Each of these streams of ethical thought will be discussed.

#### Virtue ethics.

Aristotle's Nichomachian Ethics is one of the earliest and remains one of the most important texts on virtue ethics. For Aristotle, the goal of the virtuous person is to live a life of action in accordance with reason in order to achieve fulfillment and happiness (Aristotle, NE, 1098a15-18). Aristotle considered that all people had the capacity to be virtuous but that it needed to be developed by practice, that is, by doing

virtuous acts (Copelston, 1953). He also considered that being virtuous required feedback and guidance from virtuous teachers; role models in how to live an ethical life (NE, 1103b14-26). Punzo (1996) suggests that the goodness of an act, according to virtue ethics, is determined by the qualities of the agent performing the act, not the ends of the act itself or the adherence to prescribed rules.

Contemporary virtue ethics continues this focus on the subjective qualities, traits and habits that lead an individual to make ethical choices and actions (Freeman, 2000). Alistair McIntyre (2000) offered the following definition of virtue:

A virtue is an acquired human quality the possession and exercise of which tends to enable us to achieve those goods which are internal to practices and the lack of which effectively prevents us from achieving any such goods." (p. 219).

Spohn (1992), following his review of virtue theories over the centuries, suggests that all discussions of virtue ethics have five common features:

- Moral evaluations focus on the individual's character. Actions are important because they display the individual's values and commitment.
- Good character generates practical moral judgments based on beliefs, experiences, and sensitivities more than or instead of rules and principles.
- A moral psychology gives an account of how virtues and vices form and develop.
- A theory of human fulfillment explains by example the goals toward which virtues lead and/or in which the virtues are components.

• Increasingly, attention is paid to the cultural shaping of virtues and what relation, if any, exists between specific historical manifestations of virtues and more universal human traits. (p.61).

McIntyre (2000) saw that virtue ethics required answers to three questions: a) Who am I? b) Who ought I to become? and c) What form of action will bring me from the present to the future? Answering these questions requires that a person engage in self-reflection and self-understanding and the willingness to be responsible for one's life. According to this model, as one grows in self-understanding and uses prudent judgement, who one is and how one ought to be becomes clearer (Freeman, 2000).

This focus on the characteristics of the individual has not been a comfortable fit for all psychologists. Jordan & Meara (1990) view the reliance of psychologists on rational thoughts and behaviour and the consequent strict adherence to ethical decision-making rules as psychologists trying to distance themselves from their personhood. Jordan & Meara (1990) are concerned that if the humanness of psychologists is removed from the ethical process, ethical decision-making may become more like solving abstract thought puzzles than real-life responses to people or situations. Consistent with McIntyre's model of virtuous development, Bersoff (1996) suggests that it may be that the very ability to recognize situations in which the psychologist is ethically vulnerable is a virtue-based ability. If one is not open to the idea that one could be unethical, there may not be much effort put into exploring situations in which the vulnerability to unethical behaviour is present. In this

situation, the abilities to be self-aware and to engage in honest self-reflection may be viewed as virtues (Bersoff, 1999a; Kitchener, 1984; Vasquez, 1996).

Inclusion of virtue ethics may support the work of psychologists in multicultural settings. Vasquez (1996) argues that a virtue perspective allows for the possibility that rules appropriate to one cultural setting do not always work well in another. The self-reflecting virtues of prudence and integrity seem to support flexibility in responding to the cultural needs of clients. For example, she suggests the rule of not having dual relationships in a western-European context is not necessarily appropriate in a rural or Aboriginal community context.

Jordan & Meara (1990) suggest that proper professional conduct is complicated because decisions are rarely about what is absolutely right or absolutely wrong. Virtuous and competent individuals need to exercise careful professional judgement. Meara & Schmidt (1996) consider that having guidelines alone is insufficient for consistently ethical behaviour. They define the characteristics of a virtuous agent as one who is: a) motivated to do what is good; b) possesses vision and discernment; c) realises the role of affect or emotion in assessing or judging proper conduct; d) has a high degree of self-understanding and awareness; and, e) is connected with and understands the mores of his/her community and the importance of the community in moral decision-making. These five characteristics provide the basis for development of specific virtues, which in turn comprise one's character. Meara & Schmidt (1996) go further and suggest that the characteristics of a virtuous psychologist should include the self-regarding virtues of prudence and integrity and the other-regarding virtues of respectfulness and benevolence.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Punzo (1996) suggests that the benefit of virtue ethics is that such a position affirms the vital role of the person in ethical decisions. The person acts ethically because it is the appropriate expression of their beliefs and values. The choice to act ethically in turn encourages a deepening of the ethical nature of the individual and an increase in that person's well-being. This process, according to Punzo, allows a harmonious balance within the individual and between the individual and his or her community. In a virtue based perspective, ethics are internalized and integrated, not solely dependent upon externally established rules. It may be that doing the appropriate ethical action requires more than knowing the ethical maxims and the accepted means to meet them.

Haas, Malouf and Mayerson (1988) found that there are similarities among psychologists in their responses to ethical dilemmas. However, they found that therapists with the greater amount of experience were less likely to actively identify and deal with ethical issues. They suggest that more experienced therapists consider the possible outcomes associated with responding (e.g., "nothing will happen even if I do report this") and choose to take no action. Betan and & Stanton (1999) defined "ethical resoluteness" as the confidence that the psychologist will do what they think they should. They found that ethical decision-making and resoluteness are not simply a matter of implementing rules; decision-making is influenced by the psychologist's emotional reactions, values and contextual concerns. There is an interaction between the person making decisions and their physical and interpersonal environment.

#### Feminist Ethics and Ethics of Care.

Feminist ethics sees caring as a moral imperative. However, morality is not defined through a duty or overarching principle. It is established as the result of responsibility recognized within the context of special caring relationships (Freeman, 2000). Carol Gilligan (1982) is a primary voice related to feminist ethics. She clarified through her research that there are two forms of moral judgement - justice and care - and that these are gender related. Her conclusion was that women base their moral reasoning on relationships rather than individuality, attachment rather than autonomy and the injunction to care rather than to restore the rights of others. Her contributions to ethical theory, especially contrasted with the justice orientation of Kohlberg (1981), will be discussed later in this paper as part of the section on moral development.

Ethics of care emerged in the 1980's with an understanding that a moral or ethical decision is based not only on the rational aspects of a situation but also on the attachments, vulnerability and interdependence between the person caring and the person receiving care (Vanlaere & Gastmans, 2005). This perspective facilitates the expansion of the horizon of which factors should be included in ethical decisionmaking. Noddings (1984) challenged the rational-cognitive approach as too limited. When the teaching of ethical behaviour is focused on justification of decision-making she claims that "the feelings, the conflicts, the hopes and ideas that influence our eventual choices" (p.8) are neglected. Only the justifications of actions are discussed; not the motivations or emotional reactions involved in those actions. Nodding

suggests that this leads to a thin description of the ethical decision-making process and misses some of the heuristic processes involved.

# Relational Ethics.

Relational ethics (Austin, Bergum & Dossetor, 2003; Bergum, 1998) are based on the assumption that all ethical action is situated in relationships. Ethical knowledge and the experience of making ethical decisions are integrated within a complex relational context where there is "messiness", where context matters and there are no absolute rights and wrongs. Austin et. al. do not suggest that "anything goes", but the maintenance or development of the relationship matters in the discussion of ethical action. Bergum (1998) and Austin, Bergum & Dossetor (2003) suggest that in order to truly understand the ethical demands on health care professionals it is important to situate the professionals within their practice context. The rules and the person alone are insufficient to determine ethical behaviour.

The relationships between the psychologist and clients, peers, institutions and community greatly influence ethical behaviour. Bergum (1998) defines relational ethics as holding four central concepts:

Ethics is "how" we treat each other while clinical concerns attend to the "why" of a particular treatment; 2) ethical action is reciprocal (that is, providers and recipients both give and both receive); 3) personhood (autonomy) is developed and expressed through connections between people rather than through individual rights; and 4) ethics is the question "what should I do now?" rather than the statement "this is what you should do now."

Inclusion of an ethic of care and relational ethics in addition to virtue ethics supports an expansion of the potential factors that may be included when psychologists make ethical decisions. Krebs & Denton (2005) confirm that social and personal factors exert significant influence over ethical behaviour. Therefore it is important to consider the issues that might influence the social and personal goals of psychologists as they engage with their practices and clients.

# Interpreting the moral landscape

Not all ethical theories have been discussed here. I have selected the theories that seem most connected to the literature on psychological ethics. This approach also fits with Gadamer's concept of horizon (Vanhoozer, 2005). My goal in this section has been to broaden the view of ethics to allow for greater understanding of where the participants in this study might take me. The intention was to allow a starting point that allows for inclusion of the perspectives of others in building a richer and deeper understanding of psychological ethics. Not all psychologists might appreciate this approach.

Just as some people get closer to the mountains and are still impressed by how the mountains maintain their presence as a range, rather than distinct mountains; not all psychologists accept that there is a need to consider the major ethical systems as separate. Hadjistavropoulos and Malloy (2000) hold such a view, suggesting that there is utility in approaching ethics from a vantage point that blends philosophical perspectives. They support the assimilation of consequentialist and deontological perspectives, noting that these approaches both focus on external goals. They support

a fusion of theoretical frameworks to take the best of what each theory offers to support psychologists in ethical practice.

Vanhoozer (2005) suggests that Gadamer's 'fusion of horizon' is not the same as an assimilation of horizons. Vanhoozer supports the opening of understanding of different views without necessarily having to accept all positions within one's own stance. In suggesting that a psychologist can integrate consequentialist and deontological views Hadjistavropoulos and Malloy (2000) have not correctly and consistently distinguished deontological and consequentialist thought in their work. They refer in their text to the Canadian Code of Ethics as an application of deontological thought. However, the code was developed specifically "to act as a support and guide to individual professionals" not as an absolute standard or rule to follow (Sinclair, Poizner, Gilmour-Barrett, & Randall, 1992).

It is important to recognize that when Hadjistavropoulos and Malloy (2000) recommend a pluralistic approach as useful, what they are focusing on is the utility of drawing from various theories. They use what works in the situation to achieve their greater good: this is essentially a utilitarian approach. When they claim to be talking about deontology, they are actually talking about rule-utilitarianism or another consequentialist theory that directs a psychologist to apply a rational principle in making a decision because deontology is not directly concerned with consequences. Thus, there is confusion in the literature between what rule-based utilitarianism is, or what application of a rational principle in a consequentialist ethic requires, and what a deontological process is. For example, psychologists discuss a duty to protect vulnerable people through direct action. However, it is debatable whether this is a

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

deontological duty (i.e., an unchallengeable rule) or a strongly held consensus view of the guiding principle. As psychologists explore the theoretical underpinnings of their ethics, it makes sense that the commonly held view of what is good or right will also change.

# Moral Development Theory.

Moral decision-making theory for psychologists supports the expanded horizon described previously. There is recognition that not all psychologists seem equally adept at detecting problems either in anticipation of, or even during, problem situations (Bersoff, 1999a; Bersoff, 1999b; Gabbard, 1994; Pope, 1990; Pope & Vetter, 1992; Smith, McGuire, Abbott & Blau, 1991). This may be due to a lack of training or personal deficits in the psychologist. Not all psychologists enter graduate training with a well developed approach to solving ethical problems. Formal teaching of ethical problem solving strategies is apparently helpful. Gawthrop & Uhleman (1992) found that students exposed to formal ethics teachings were more able to solve ethical problems than students who experienced an informal process. However, they also noted that the mere provision of ethics information is not sufficient to foster high quality ethical decision-making. It may be that psychologists enter a developmental process where ethical competence develops over time and with experience.

Facing ethical problems can be a source of great stress for some psychologists. This may affect the psychologist's ability to use problem-solving strategies. Jew, Green & Kroger (1999) found that resilient people can access particular skills and abilities in complex and difficult or stressful situations. They found that the three main factors associated with resiliency include: a) future orientation (i.e., optimism,

hope and positive projective anticipation); b) active skill acquisition (i.e., formation and use of relationships for survival, information seeking, precocious maturity, and altruism); and, c) independence/risk taking (i.e., rapid responsivity to danger and decisive risk taking). Their theory suggests that resiliency is based upon aspects of the characteristics of the individual, their use of principles or rules to guide decisionmaking, their connections to others and their lived experience. These authors suggest that resilient psychologists are more likely to be ethical. This finding is consistent with the thought that ethical behaviour is connected to a moral developmental process that builds with experience.

Whatever the reason for why some people are not as adept as others at problem solving, it is helpful to explore the immediate link between the philosophical underpinnings of ethics, moral development and ethical decision-making. Philosophy influences the conceptualization of moral thought processes. Understanding how people make moral decisions supports the development of ethical decision-making models. Therefore, the level and type of moral development of the professional may also play a role in the ethical choices of the psychologist.

Lawrence Kohlberg and Carole Gilligan are two prime sources of moral development theory within the professional ethics literature (Bersoff, 1999a; Jordan & Meara; 1990; Krebs & Denton, 1997; Lasch, 1992; Neukrug & Lovell Parker & Radha, 1996). Kohlberg held a deontological perspective focusing on moral rules and knowledge; while Gilligan, as noted earlier, takes a feminist/relational perspective, focusing on responsibility within the context of relationships (Meara and Schmidt,

1996). Gilligan provided an alternative theory starting from the premise that Kohlberg's theory was non-inclusive of women's experience (Gilligan, 1982).

Kohlberg (1981) defined morality in terms of the ability to consider the most just solutions to moral dilemmas. His model focuses on moral understanding, or moral knowledge or deontological rationality (Kohlberg, 1984). Gilligan (1982), originally a colleague of Kohlberg's, studied moral decision-making by taking gender into account. Her work challenged Kohlberg's hierarchy of moral developmental stages. Besides the critique that Kohlberg's moral development theory was gender biased, Gilligan seems to distrust Kohlberg's reliance on abstract and linear/hierarchical reasoning, especially if it over-rides the interpersonal context in which moral choices have to be made (Lasch, 1992).

Krebs & Denton (1997) also critiqued Kohlberg's model because it was developed by having people respond to abstract dilemmas about other people. They argued that private ruminations about abstract moral dilemmas are a relatively rare experience. When people consider philosophical dilemmas, they usually discuss or debate them with other people. In the case of Kohlberg's test they discuss them in audience with the researcher. This context carries with it implicit roles and expectations. Krebs and Denton (1997) state that people adapt the structure of their moral reasoning to their audiences, a finding consistent with social psychological literature on impression management. People make moral judgements for reasons other than to resolve moral dilemmas, and if we are to understand human morality, we must attend to the other functions moral judgements serves.

Krebs and Denton (1997) suggest that both Gilligan and Kohlberg are limited due to their methodology. They found that people do not necessarily progress from one stage of development to another but maintain old structures of moral judgement and invoke them in response to particular types of dilemmas. There seems to be interplay between the types of moral issues they address and the cognitive structures available to them. Structures of moral judgment are domain-specific and they develop in an additive inclusive manner. The more likely that someone important to you is going to learn about your decision, the higher the level of moral reasoning used. The less likely it is to be a socially scrutinized decision then the more likely self-serving or lower levels of moral reasoning will kick in. Krebs and Denton (1997) draw from the social psychology literature on impression management and cognitive dissonance to reflect on ethical practice. They suggest that using real-life discussions will provide greater insight into how people actually make moral choices. Prilleltensky & Walsh-Bowers (1999) concur with this perspective stating that the literature regarding current models of ethical problem-solving fails to document how ethics are experienced, by psychologists, on a daily basis in real situations.

#### A Route Emerges

There is debate in the literature about whether only adherence to professional guidelines is involved in ethical decision-making or whether other aspects of the psychologist's world view are also important (Bersoff, 1996; Jordan & Meara, 1990; Meara & Schmidt, 1996). It is only possible to get to our destination when we have decided where we are trying to go. For example, is the goal of ethical action to measure the cost/benefit ratio of pleasure and pain (utilitarianism), to focus on the

strength and quality of relationships (relational ethics), to be concerned with caring compassion (care ethics), or to act from a well developed character (virtue ethics)? It is important to realize that these various interpretations of ethics are not mutually exclusive, so a further question is whether and how these various elements can co-exist within the ethics terrain.

Aristotle is a recognized authority on virtue ethics. He states that "excellence [virtue], then, is a state [of character] concerned with choice... this being determined by reason and in the way in which the man of practical wisdom would determine it. Now it is a mean between two vices [excess and deficiency]... because the vices respectively fall short of or exceed what is right in both passions and actions" (NE, 1106b36-1107a4)<sup>2</sup>. Aristotle also supported the inclusion of motives and relationships in the consideration of ethical action. He stated that when looking at the goodness of behaviour it must be done: "to the right person, to the right extent, at the right time, with the right aim [with the right motive], and in the right way" (NE, 1109a26-28). From this statement, it can be seen that the virtue ethicist sees the importance of both character and the consequences of actions. As noted earlier, John Stuart Mill (1988), an authority on utilitarianism, states that it is not only important to measure the bodily pleasures and pains but the higher pleasures and pains of the human character. For a utilitarian the motive of the actor isn't important when considering the consequences of the action but the proper motive is critical when assessing the character of the actor.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  The quotes are from the W.D. Ross translation revised by J.O. Urmson; however, the square bracket insertions are based on the Aristotle (1947) W.D. Ross translation alone.

Given the subsequent discussion of the experiences of highly ethical psychologists from a phenomenological perspective, starting from a richer conceptualization of psychological ethics seems appropriate.

# Reading the map of psychological ethics

Just knowing where you are going, and where you have already been, in terms of ethics is not sufficient information to get to the destination. Knowing how to get there is part of the psychologist's responsibility. There remains a debate about how to best support psychologists in following an ethical route. Not everyone follows a formal map or becomes expertly familiar with the landscape before setting off on their journey. Just asking for directions when lost may suffice for some people. It sounds reasonable that some people might consider looking at a map to orient them to a particular travel goal but then not feel the need to refer to the map beyond that initial orientation. Their tolerance for getting lost may be high or their available time may allow for several attempts at getting to their destination. Sometimes, however, it is more effective to have people carry the maps with them to allow for the fewest errors and the most efficient travel. However, not every knows how to read a map.

Map reading is an acquired skill. A map reader needs to be able to recognize the symbols on the map and chart a course according to where they intend to go. The psychologist identifies their moral and ethical signposts and plots their course. Therefore ethical decision-making theories are important aspects influencing the choices psychologists make navigating the professional landscape.

#### Ethical decision-making models.

While the discussion of moral decision-making is helpful to support the understanding of how to make moral decisions in general it is also helpful to consider how these general principles have been applied to ethical decision-making by psychologists. Several models are presented including Kitchener's (1984) problem solving model, the Canadian Psychological Association's (2000) hierarchical principle-based model, Hadjistavropoulos & Malloy's (2000) principles and philosophical model, Cottone & Claus's (2000) social constructivist model, and Hansen & Goldberg's (1999) web approach. The presence of several ethical decisionmaking models suggests that there are many ways to legitimately interpret a code of professional ethics.

Karen Kitchener (1984) extended Beauchamp & Childress' (1983) model of bio-medical ethical decision-making, applying it to the practice of psychology. According to Kitchener's model, a psychologist responds intuitively and with ordinary moral sense when faced with the facts of a situation. The psychologist does so based upon what he or she has previously learned about ethical behaviour, including his or her knowledge of the code of ethics. This is an immediate, prereflective reaction that may be sufficient for most practice-based situations. However, this intuitive level of responding is not enough for ethical dilemmas. The psychologist, upon recognizing this, refers to a critical-evaluative process made up of three tiers of increasingly general and abstract forms of justification. The first tier is a more formal reference to the professional code; the second tier is to consider and

apply the more general and foundational principles of ethical action. The third tier is to consider the dilemma in the context of the overarching philosophical theory.

Kitchener incorporated the principles defined by Beauchamp and Childress (1983) into her model. These include: a) respect for autonomy; b) nonmalfeasance; c) beneficence; d) justice; and e) fidelity. Respect for autonomy includes acknowledging the right of another to define his or her own course in life and make his or her own decisions. It also includes acting in a way that enables, rather than hinders, another's right to make his or her choices. Nonmalfeasance is the obligation to do no harm to others. Beneficence is the obligation to take positive steps to help others including the prevention and removal of harm. Fidelity refers to faithfulness, loyalty, honesty and trustworthiness that support the needed trust that is core to the traditional therapist-client relationship. Finally, Beauchamp and Childress refer to justice in the sense of distributive justice, making sure that people have access to services and that discrimination based on gender, ethnicity, race or socio-economic status is avoided. If the dilemma has not been resolved after appeals to these principles, the psychologist is directed to consult the underlying ethical principles, which, for Kitchener were utilitarian in nature.

Like Kitchener's model, the Canadian Psychological Association (1992) grounded their model in core ethical principles and then developed seven steps to support the application of these principles. The Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (CPA, 2000) departs from the Beauchamp and Childress model in that it is based upon four ethical principles derived from empirical methods that captured the "collective wisdom" of Canadian psychologists (Sinclair, 1998). Sinclair (1998)

included the following four principles, weighted and organized in order of importance: a) respect for the dignity of persons; b) responsible caring; c) integrity in relationships; and, d) responsibility to society. The "highest good" is defined as respect for the dignity of the person. This ordering of the principles for ethical decision-making is unique to the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (Sinclair, 1998).

The basic steps of ethical decision-making according to the CPA (2000) include: 1) identifying who is potentially affected by the decision; 2) identifying the ethically relevant issues and practices that are pertinent to the dilemma; 3) considering how issues specific to the psychologist (i.e., biases, stresses or selfinterest) might affect the decision made; 4) designing alternative courses of action; 5) identifying the potential risks and benefits that are associated with each course of action; 6) selecting a course of action after careful application of the code of ethics; 7) taking action with a commitment to assume responsibility for the consequences; 8) evaluating the consequences of the selected action; 9) accepting responsibility for the action taken and, if necessary, taking steps to correct any negative consequences that the action may have caused; and 10) taking whatever appropriate action to prevent future occurrences of the dilemma (CPA, 2000).

Hadjistavropoulos & Malloy (2000) expanded the CPA model into what they considered to be a comprehensive decision-making model for Canadian psychologists. This model provides the philosophical underpinning to ground and support the CPA's principles and decision-making process. Hadjistavropoulos and Malloy suggest that there are also five categories of variables (individual, issue

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

specific, significant others, situational, and external) influencing ethical decisionmaking that should also be considered at each stage. The stages referred to are those included in the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (CPA, 2000).

The social constructivism perspective of decision-making differs significantly from the models described previously. Cottone (2001) is critical of most decisionmaking models because although they describe the steps involved in making ethical choices, they do not adequately describe how a psychologist makes one choice over another (Cottone & Claus, 2000). This approach clearly places ethical decisions within the social context, not in the head of the decision maker. According to Cottone (2001) decision-making becomes an interpersonal process of "negotiating", "consensualizing" and "arbitrating". Cottone & Claus (2000) argue that in part this is due to a poor link between philosophical theory and the steps involved in making ethical decisions.

Cottone (2001) describes an ethically sensitive professional, operating from a social constructivism mode, as taking the following steps to resolve an ethical dilemma: a) obtain information from those involved; b) assess the nature of the relationships operating at that moment in time; c) consult valued colleagues and professional expert opinions (including ethics codes and literature); d) negotiate where there is disagreement; and, e) respond in a way that allows for reasonable consensus as to what should happen or what really occurred.

From the view of a social constructivist, psychologists "are less vulnerable to ethical challenges if they are linked to a rich professional culture, which is not supportive of a breach of ethical standards" (Cottone, 2001 p. 45). Within this
perspective, professional relationships should be chosen in accordance with the consensus of what it is to be ethical. The community to which the psychologist belongs develops this consensus. The Canadian Psychological Association could, by Cottone's definition, be the community.

Cottone (2001) argues that psychologists get into ethical trouble when they do not fully enter the professional relationship. If a psychologist does not associate regularly with ethically minded peers he or she runs the risk of making erroneous ethical decisions; of making a choice out of context. Adherence to the social constructionist perspective ensures that psychologists practice in connection with their profession and develop a shared, consensus vision of what professional behaviour is right and wrong. This view is also consistent with a relational ethics perspective.

Theory and relationships may not be all that influence ethical decisionmaking. Hansen & Goldberg (1999) suggest that ethical decisions are complex and as such it is insufficient to make decisions utilizing only a step-by-step decision-making model to resolve dilemmas. They propose that a non-linear model (i.e., a web design) be considered when exploring an ethical problem. The strands of the web include: a) moral principles and personal values; b) clinical and cultural considerations; c) ethics codes signifying the mandates and limitations on professional conduct by the governing body; d) the demands and regulations associated with agency or employer policies; e) federal, state and local statutes governing the practice of psychology and issues linked to practice, e.g., child welfare reporting laws; f) rules and regulations; and, g) case law.

The decision-making processes described above avoid prescribing solutions based upon rules that must be followed, choosing to focus instead on empowering the psychologist to deeply reflect upon her or his circumstances and choose an ethical solution in keeping with her or his principles and beliefs and in keeping with the principles adopted by the greater psychological community as reflected in, e.g., the CPA Code of Ethics.

### An overview the psychological ethics landscape

Writing this literature review was like reviewing a series of guide books trying to figure out the right route for a trip. I scanned for the highlights of what to include in the trip. These were fairly simple to identify as they seemed to be discussed in almost every text. Then I went into reading more detailed descriptions of what there was to explore. For example, most of the material I read included discussions of duty and consequences. Moral development theory and ethical decision-making theory also seemed popular destinations. Much like it would be hard to visit the Rocky Mountains without visiting Banff or Jasper, the core of the discussion emerged. However it is hard to believe that these two points of interest are all that is relevant to see in the Rockies. Virtue ethics, feminist ethics, ethics of care and relational ethics added to the experience of the journey, pulling attention to more subtle but important aspects of the ethical terrain.

All of the decision-making models reviewed reflected the complexity of the ethical practice of psychology. Jordan & Meara (1990) supported the inclusion of the person as an important element of the decision-making process. Kitchener (1983)

reinforced the need for the principles of autonomy, nonmalfeasance, beneficence, fidelity and justice to influence a psychologist's ethical decision making processes. The CPA (2000) integrated these principles within its recommended decision-making process. Cottone (2001) stressed that a rich professional culture supports good decisions. Hansen & Goldberg (1999) validated how a web of factors including virtues, context, goals, policies and guidelines from a variety of sources support the best decisions. It was this image of a decision-making web that crystallized for me how complex it is to consistently make good ethical decisions.

Prilleltensky, Walsh-Bowers and Rossiter's (1999) comment that psychologists don't see themselves represented in the discussion on psychological ethics continued to ring true for me throughout my review of the literature. Each perspective addressed some valid elements of ethical practice, but it seemed somehow distant from lived experience. The need for a qualitative inquiry into that lived experience seemed validated.

## Planning the Route, Packing a Bag and Picking Traveling Companions

## Planning a Qualitative Research Route

My journey started with the question "what is the experience of being a highly ethical psychologist?" I needed to know more about that experience than a survey or questionnaire might be able to tell me. My question was a qualitative one and called for a qualitative response. Creswell (1998) defines qualitative research this way:

... The researcher builds a complex, holistic picture, analyzes words, reports detailed views of informants, and conducts the study in a natural setting. (p.

15)

I wanted to build this "complex, holistic picture" that could clarify how the highly ethical psychologists experienced being ethical. My goal in this project was to develop a rich understanding of what it means to be ethical. As a forensic psychologist, I had spent my career learning about how people got into trouble. I now needed to know what made it possible for people to not only avoid trouble but to thrive on doing the right thing for the right reasons.

Every licensed psychologist by definition must demonstrate that they have knowledge of and the ability to follow ethical codes in order to gain the ability to call themselves "psychologists" (Rétfalvi & Simon, 1998). This is achieved in this jurisdiction by the provisional psychologist participating in an oral ethics exam (College of Alberta Psychologists, 2005). A team of three psychologists act as evaluators during the exam and they test the applicant's ability to apply their knowledge of psychological ethics to their declared areas of practice (College of

Alberta Psychologists, 2005). Additionally all provisional psychologists had to pass the Exam for Professional Practice in Psychology (EPPP; Association of State and Provincial Boards of Psychology, 2006) which includes questions on ethics. Ethics questions contribute to Fifteen percent of the entire EPPP. The importance of ethics as part of this exam is reflected in the fact that the topic of ethics received the highest percentage of questions per area on the exam. The only one other area receiving an equal percentage of questions was the Treatment, Interventions and Prevention area.

Therefore, I expected that quantitatively testing for knowledge of the ethical code or ethical decision-making models would not provide the desired richness of description I sought. I did not want so much to explain their experience but to understand how these psychologists lived ethics. I wanted to know more about their relationship with ethics and how that was expressed through their daily experience.

## Interpretive Inquiry

Interpretive inquiry includes a multitude of methodologies that can be used to question thoroughly the meanings and symbols of an examined life experience (Welker, 2004). Interpretive inquiry encompasses many qualitative research methods including both phenomenology and hermeneutics (Angen, 2000).

### The Nature of Phenomenological Research

The power of the phenomenological method is that it helps to build a rich shared understanding that will promote more thoughtful action (Van Manen, 1990). Creswell (1998) defines the phenomenological method as the process of describing

the meaning of the lived experiences of several individuals about a phenomenon. The phenomenological researcher searches for the essence or central underlying meaning of the experience for individuals. The outward appearance of the phenomenon is explored as well as the personal consciousness of the experience based on memory, images and meanings (Patton, 1990).

The phenomenological approach called to me particularly because it reflects a return to the tasks of traditional philosophy (Creswell, 1998). I have had an interest in traditional philosophy since I started asking "why" questions as a youth. Phenomenological inquiry is a return to the conception of philosophy as the search for wisdom through the lens of lived experience as opposed to scientific reductionism.

This study has challenged me to become a more flexible researcher and writer. Wendy Austin, one of my advisors, inspired by her mentor Max Van Manen, warned me that this method involved writing and re-writing until a point is reached where sufficient clarity and description have been obtained that I might feel comfortable in stopping the writing process. This is different than my previous quantitative research experiences. In quantitative inquiry, writing ends when the data has been adequately reported and discussed. In qualitative work the reality of what is being studied is inextricably related to one's consciousness of it (Creswell, 1998; Valle and King, 1978). Encountering my participants and the consequent consciousness raising that occurred could have gone on for an indefinite period of time.

Phenomenology is appropriate to the study of psychology. Kruger (1979) defines psychology as a shared activity built by what people can communicate about their experiences and actions. It is the systematic study of the structures of human

existence by considering their lived experience in retrospection. The central tenets of psychological phenomenology are "to determine what an experience means for the persons who have had the experience and to provide a comprehensive description of it. From individual descriptions general or universal meanings are derived, the essences of structures of the experience emerge" (Moustakas, 1994, p.13). These tenets reflect the goals of this study.

### Hermeneutical Phenomenology

This study will follow a hermeneutic phenomenological process. Van Manen (1997) defines hermeneutic phenomenology as a:

Descriptive (phenomenological) methodology because it wants to be attentive to how things appear, it wants to let things speak for themselves; it is an interpretive (hermeneutic) methodology because it claims that there are no such things as uninterpreted phenomena (p. 180).

A hermeneutical phenomenological process seeks to move beyond the identification of themes to "systematically develop a certain narrative that explicates themes while remaining true to the universal quality or essence of a certain type of experience" (Van Manen, 1997, p. 97). Hein & Austin (2001) describe that in hermeneutic phenomenology descriptions are offered as "insights, not as replicable results of structural analysis" (p.9). They suggest that hermeneutic phenomenology involves a process of "contextualization and amplification rather than structural essentialization" (p.9). This method allows me to interpret the comments of participants within a larger social context. Popular sources of information such as movies, books and cultural stories as well as profession data sources are available to support interpretation within the hermeneutic framework. The purpose of using these outside sources is to support the clarification and interpretation of the phenomenon being studied. Outside sources also support the exploration of the phenomenon within the context of the cultural milieu in which they arise and have meaning.

There is no formal step-by-step method associated with hermeneutic phenomenology. Max Van Manen (1990) clarified the organizing structure as involving six research activities: turning with commitment to an abiding concern; investigating the experience as it is lived; reflecting on essential themes; describing the phenomenon through writing and rewriting; maintaining a strong focus on the question; and balancing the research context by considering parts and wholes. Therefore, once ethical approval had been obtained by the University of Alberta Ethics Review Committee, I set out to focus on the lived experience of being highly ethical.

#### Seeking Exemplars

I set out to find highly ethical psychologists inspired by the method used by Jennings & Skovholt (1999). They used a peer-nomination process to identify "master therapists". Their method resonated with me in its simplicity. If you want to find people who are outstanding in their field, who are known for a certain trait, ask people in the field who they are. Just as Jennings and Skovholt found master

therapists, I felt that the same process would identify exemplars of ethical practice. An exemplar (Concise Oxford English Dictionary, 1995) is someone who is fit to be imitated or outstandingly good. Such a person could be considered a model or pattern of behaviour that typifies a specific class of psychologist (i.e., a highly ethical psychologist). Therefore, following Jennings & Skovholt (1999), I used the technique of snowball sampling strategy to identify exemplary psychologists.

Patton (1990) describes snowball sampling as an approach for locating information-rich informants or critical cases. The process begins by asking wellsituated people: "Who should I talk to?" By asking a number of people whom else to talk to, new information-rich cases are accumulated and a few key names are mentioned repeatedly. Those people named as being valuable by a number of different informants take on special importance. The chain of recommended informants typically diverges initially as many possible sources are recommended and then converges as a few key names are mentioned repeatedly. This participant recruitment method depends upon the judgment of peers or colleagues.

I asked people to nominate *exemplars of ethical psychological practice*: a) with whom they had direct ethics-related experience; b) whom they would personally feel no hesitation to consult should an ethical dilemma arise; c) who had been chartered psychologists for at least 5 years; d) who were in good standing with the College of Alberta Psychologists and who were currently in active clinical practice (i.e., not purely academic or managerial). The peer nomination technique fit well with the phenomenological research design because people were asked to nominate other psychologists based upon their lived experience with an exemplar of ethical practice.

## The Process of Discovering Exemplars

I started the nomination process in early February 2003. The excitement of starting this research process was tempered somewhat by visions of an endless game of telephone tag as I tried to connect with one busy clinician after another. Much to my surprise, and relief, the process went very quickly with most of my direct connections occurring on the first or second attempt. I started with four well-situated people and added names to the "to be called list" as people were nominated. I attempted to contact everyone nominated. I made a point of leaving detailed voice messages so that people could make informed choices about whether or not to call me back. The purpose of this study was shared as part of my introduction to each potential nominator. They were informed that the person(s) they nominated may be contacted to participate in this study if other psychologists name them as well. They were also told that when I contacted people I would be telling them that they had been nominated by someone but not by whom.

All of the people with whom I had direct contact to nominate highly ethical psychologists responded positively to my request. I was still in the process of connecting with five people when I ceased sampling, having reached my target number of interviews. In these cases people were out of town or I did not have correct phone numbers for them.

In two cases psychologists asked to delay responding to my request until they had obtained permission from the people they wanted to nominate. Both got back to me with a list of nominees. In another situation a psychologist contacted considered

responding but could not identify anyone within his experience who fit the nomination criteria listed.

Thirty-five psychologists were contacted directly within the three-week timeframe. From those calls 75 psychologists were nominated. The range of nominations by a single psychologist was from zero to eleven. The average number of psychologists nominated by a single nominator was 3.4.

Of all 75 psychologists nominated, fifty (67%) psychologists were nominated once. Nineteen (25%) psychologists were nominated twice. Four psychologists (5%) were nominated three times and two (3%) were nominated four times. Since it seemed unique to be named three or more times, I selected eight percent of those nominated to be interviewed. These figures suggest that the snowball sampling process was successful in identifying a unique subgroup of psychologists.

I looked for patterns in the nominations made. Many people nominated colleagues within their own practice. However, none of the final participants were nominated solely by psychologists from within their own practice. I also looked for a pattern of reciprocity, in which those nominated would in turn nominate those who nominated then. This also did not turn out to be the case.

Of those nominated forty-five (60%) were female and thirty (40%) were male. This balance did not extend to the actual participants interviewed, as five out of the six (83%) psychologists interviewed were female.

Most people kept to the assigned task - to simply nominate psychologists. Some however, felt it important to clarify their rational for nominating people. When they did describe their criteria, people indicated that they were nominating people

who were at one time supervisors from internships, former classmates, and current valued peers.

Many nominators indicated their interest in the outcome of the study. They also expressed curiosity about who was nominating whom, especially who had nominated them. Additionally, people expressed great interest in knowing who would be interviewed in the study as they would comprise what more than one respondent described as the "ultimate in referral lists".

# Description of Exemplars

One male and five female psychologists were identified as "exemplars of ethical practice" for this study. Two participants had master's level training and four had their doctorates in Psychology. Their ages ranged from 44 to 57 years. Their tenure as chartered psychologists ranged from 12 to 27 years. All participants were in private practice. Many of the participants had also been "helping professionals", i.e., teachers, social workers, youth care workers, etc., prior to obtaining their chartered psychologist status.

- Abe<sup>3</sup> is a 44-year-old<sup>4</sup> male Ph.D. level psychologist in private practice that has been chartered for 12 years. He had 10 years experience as a "helping professional" prior to chartering.
- Betty is a 54-year-old female Ph.D. level psychologist in private practice who has been chartered for 22 years. She had 4 years experience as a "helping professional" prior to chartering.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The names have been changed to ensure participant's confidentiality.
<sup>4</sup> Ages and years of practice are listed as they were at the time of the interview in 2003.

- Carla is a 44-year-old female Master's level psychologist in private practice that has been chartered for 18 years. She did not have experience as a "helping professional" prior to chartering.
- Doris is a 56-year-old female Master's level psychologist in private practice who has been chartered for 12 years. She had 10 years experience as a "helping professional" prior to chartering.
- Erika is a 44-year-old female Ph.D. level psychologist in private practice who has been chartered for 21 years. She had no experience as a "helping professional" prior to chartering.
- Faye is a 57-year-old female Ph.D. level psychologist in private practice who has been chartered for 27 years. She had 4 years experience as a "helping professional" prior to chartering.

## The Interview Process

I telephoned participants and explained that they had been nominated by their peers as an exemplar of ethical practice and asked them if they would participate in an interview as part of the study. Some of those nominated as exemplars had participated in the nomination process so they had some sense of the project. All six of those I approached agreed to participate and interviews were scheduled. Each participant was interviewed in the location of his or her choice. Five of the six participants chose their own offices. One chose mine.

I reviewed the study design with each participant to obtain informed consent. Then I collected basic demographic data before the formal interviewing began. The actual interviews took approximately 40 minutes each with only one interview (Betty) extending over 60 minutes. Most of the interviews occurred in February and March 2003. The final participant was interviewed in August 2003. The delay was due to the travel schedules of both the researcher and participant.

A hand held tape recorder with an external microphone was employed to record the interviews. The first interview was redone when it was discovered that the external microphone had been inadvertently switched off. Participant "Abe" agreed to immediately redo the discussion. He responded to the same prompting questions and indicated that he thought he had given fairly similar responses to the initial interview. This was my recollection as well. On a few occasions Abe went into more detail on some of his original comments. In the end we both agreed that the second discussion seemed to capture all of the data from the first attempt with the only difference being a bit more detail.

### A Quirk of the Process

As mentioned previously, interviews with participants were typically very short. All participants had been prompted to provide in-depth information about their experiences about being ethical, and they complied. However, it seemed that each participant had considered what they might say about their experiences of being ethical between booking the interviews and the actual event. For example, Carla<sup>5</sup> described her pre-interview preparation process:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Participant's words appear in italics. The quotations are not necessarily verbatim as they have been edited to remove utterances such as ums and ahs and phrases such as "you know". Repetitive phrases may have been removed. Some quotations have been shortened.

I was thinking about it before you came. I had really no idea of what you were going to ask me but I had a feeling you would ask me about what ethics mean to you and that's why I thought of people who know me, people who know my personality, know that I believe in being fair and so I thought that's what I would tell you today.

I had expected that participants would tell me about their experiences with ethics, perhaps give examples of specific times that particularly embodied their ethical practices. What participants actually provided was detailed information about what they thought about their experiences rather than describing their experiences directly. This provided a wealth of information from a writing perspective and a different kind of data than I had initially anticipated. It also posed a challenge in terms of the design of this study. There were several instances during this study where I reminded myself to "trust the process" originally planned. Therefore, I proceeded to analyze the data as described previously keeping focused on creating a rich description of being an ethical exemplar. This was in keeping with Van Manen's (1998) assertion that "phenomenology attempts to explicate the meanings as we live them in our everyday existence, our lifeworld" (p.11). Given the pre-processing provided by participants, it is therefore more appropriate to consider this study's design to be that of interpretive inquiry informed by hermeneutic phenomenology.

#### Reflecting on the Process

It was an interesting experience to sit in a participant's waiting room before the interview. It reinforced for me the interconnectedness of psychologists and the

challenges of maintaining confidentiality in small communities. Many of the participants were in practice with other professionals I knew through my own professional activities over the years. While waiting I recognised several people, many of whom knew that I was in a Ph.D. program. Their curiosity was obvious and a few asked me about how my dissertation was coming. It was challenging to engage in polite conversation with people and not indicate the reason why I was there.

The "small world" phenomenon continued following my first interview. I finished the interview, returned to my office and phoned my advisor to discuss how things went. He was already aware of what had transpired because the participant (Abe) and my advisor had met (unconnected to my research) shortly after the interview. Abe had told him that he had enjoyed the discussion and that he thought it was an interesting project. I experienced this feedback as encouraging.

### Commitment

These experiences confirmed that this form of research is both a personal and interpersonal undertaking. It was not possible while conducting this study to stay totally detached from it, nor was this desirable (Bergum, 1991). Husserl originally suggested that researchers engage in a bracketing process so that they could isolate these experiences and set them aside (Zahavi, 2003). Husserl was a mathematician by training and his terminology reflects his own biases. He sought to separate out and hold separate the preconceptions and knowledge of the researcher so that it would not influence the discovery process. In the process of bracketing thoughts, attitudes and pre-existing suppositions are brought to the foreground and the researcher then

becomes more conscious. Husserl's thinking was that this setting aside would help bring fresh and new eyes to a phenomenon and therefore more objectivity (Zahavi, 2003). However, not all phenomenological researchers agree with Husserl's perspective.

I approach this work from an integrated human perspective where thought, feeling, physical and spiritual aspects of the individual are all part of the writing process. With respect to Husserl however, it is important to acknowledge the presupposing attitudes and beliefs that influence my work as I live the research experience (Hein & Austin, 2001). Merleau-Ponty (1962) suggested that it is impossible to free ourselves from our own subjectivity. However, through awareness of my own perspective I can then use it as a source of data to support the interpretation of the phenomenon I investigate.

In studying the experience of highly ethical psychologists it calls me to examine my own professional ethical stance, my own practice and how these integrate into my own life. Francine Hultgren (1995) suggested that phenomenology supports us in being more fully who we are. It was difficult at times letting my self get into a phenomenological mind set. My previous research experiences were primarily from a quantitative scientific perspective. I found this methodology intruding on me as I started to write. I am comfortable with the use of metaphor and the finding of themes imbedded in my client's words. I frequently employ narrative and metaphorical clinical interventions. However, it seemed at times that I was not writing "psychologically" when writing metaphorically or in the first person. This made it difficult to write. I approached and retreated from writing over several

months. It was not until I started to participate in a weekly seminar hosted by Wendy Austin, one of my advisors, that writing became possible. The seminar, known to me as the "Tuesday Morning Talkers", is a multidisciplinary group of graduate students engaged in a dialogue about phenomenology and ethics. This group provided me with the opportunity to experience phenomenology in action.

The writing of this work required that I acknowledge and process my own feelings about the psychologists that prompted the initial need to seek out highly ethical psychologists. I found through the writing and re-writing of this text that I resolved feelings of anger toward and distance from these people. I do not think it is coincidental that the writing of this work has coincided with my choice to leave prison-based work and to establish myself in private practice. I noted these reactions and addressed them in part through clinical supervision and in part through writing.

## Moving into the Journey

The following chapters are the outcome of the process described above. Each chapter will focus on a separate theme that emerged from my reflections on discussions with six psychologists who are exemplars of ethical practice. The final chapter holds a description of the meaning of being ethical derived from the experiences of the ethical exemplars involved in this study. It also includes a discussion about supporting psychologists in following the lead of these exemplars.

### "The road is long

with many a winding turn

to who knows where who knows when ... "

(Scott & Russell, 1969).

### The Long and Winding Road to Competence

Competence was the first theme to emerge from this study. Competence derives from the old French term, *competere*, i.e., the sense 'be fit, proper, or qualified.'(Concise Oxford English Dictionary of English Etymology, 2006). Tobias (2003) reviewed the rise of professionalism over the past few centuries and suggests that developing professional competence for most is much like "travelling without a map or compass". However, for psychologists the opposite seems to be true. The journey toward independent professional status for psychologists is analogous to that of an orienteering race. In orienteering participants start a race with a detailed topographical map, a compass and a list of control points at which they must checkin. It is not necessarily a competition against others but there is a defined goal and prescribed time frame for the journey. Each orienteering competition has mandatory "control points" at which participants must "check-in". How they get from the start to the control points is up to the individual. Each person must chart their own path, identifying the best route and avoiding potential barriers or pitfalls. The goal is to complete the course as quickly and efficiently as possible (International Orienteering Federation, 1999). People committed to this process may have coaches to help them plan for their race or to plot their course, but they must run the course on their own. Their success or failure reflects their ability to turn their preparation into practice.

The first check-point for the new psychologist is completion of graduate training. A psychologist must have the appropriate academic qualifications for their jurisdiction. The second check-point is the completion of either an internship or a probationary period of practice (or both). A third check-point is administrative and involves application for registration, where credentials and references are confirmed; for many this seems like the most challenging check-point, the one on the hill hidden slightly behind a big tree. Arriving there seems to take a lot of energy. Just as the journey starts heading for flatter ground there is another check-point, the Exam for Professional Practice in Psychology (Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards, 2006). For many making the run, this is like encountering a stream in the middle of the course. It may take some time to find the best way to go through it and it may slow the runner's progress. If the psychologist can make it through this leg of the run, they face the final check-point, an ethics exam.

Each psychologist's journey through the course is unique to their circumstances and interests. Participants in this study reported that their path through graduate coursework and practica during graduate training prepared them well for clinical competency but that ethics training was not offered in any of their graduate programs. They were not given a map or compass in regards to their ethical competence and had to chart their own way regarding applied professional ethics and acquire ethical competence "on the road". Their independent map making skills appeared to be sufficient to allow them to rise to this challenge and become exemplars of ethical practice.

## Registered Psychologists are competent psychologists, aren't they?

It can take more than a decade to complete the registration course from the beginning of graduate training to the point of being a psychologist licenced for independent practice (College of Alberta Psychologists, 2005). One would think that completion of this gruelling course would leave no doubt that a registered psychologist is a competent one.

Hannibal Lecter begs to differ.

...Most psychology is puerile, Officer Starling, and that practiced in Behavioral Science is on the level with phrenology. Psychology doesn't get very good material to start with. Go to any college psychology department and look at the students and faculty: ham radio enthusiasts and other personality-deficient buffs. Hardly the best brains on campus... (Dr. Hannibal Lecter in The Silence of the Lambs; Demme, 1991)

Perhaps he is being a bit harsh but Dr. Lecter is not alone in being somewhat disparaging of psychologists. When I explain to people that I am exploring the experiences of highly ethical psychologists in this research, psychologists and nonpsychologists alike commonly respond with smiles and statements like, "Is there such a thing" or "Have you had any luck finding one yet?" The cynicism that exists both within and outside the profession is striking.

Simon Nuttgens (1998), a graduate student in psychology, faced disillusionment early in his career as he found that people denigrate the ethical practices of psychologists and other mental health professionals. He identified several

ethical orientations demonstrated by psychologists in his discussion. He observed that some psychologists are bleeding hearts or do-gooders who make ethical errors from a place of inexperience and innocence. Other psychologists might belong to protectionist old boy's networks that cling together and protect each other by erecting and maintaining barriers to informing on each other's unethical practices. There are also the dinosaurs that haven't been to a training event for years. These psychologists continue traditional practices assuming that what was good before is good now. The final idea Nuttgens suggests is that some psychologists are arrogant and believe, without question, that they are right regardless of the circumstances or feedback. What resonates from Nuttgens' discussion is the reality that when psychologists act in unethical ways, for whatever reason, it reflects negatively on the profession as a whole. All psychologists get tarred with Hannibal Lecter's brush.

This brush was waiting for me when I went to work as a psychologist in the prison system. Psychologists were tolerated (at best). The common perspective was that psychologists were an unwanted bunch of "bleeding heart con-lovers" who were necessary to have around. The psychologist was seen as someone who helped inmates "get out early" and therefore was not to be trusted. My sense was that the institutional psychologists had to fight for every toe hold of respect with both staff and clients (who of course saw us as extensions of "big brother"). Credibility was always a fragile thing. And then things would get worse.

Within a few years several psychologists I knew personally had made significant ethical errors (including two of them committing the "worst" ethics violation– having an affair with a client). As the story of each incident circulated

within our small psychological community it had a cumulative effect. I felt angry that these individuals had not acted properly, had hurt their clients, had put themselves at risk of physical and professional harm and had denigrated the profession as a whole. I remember thinking that if so many of my peers were struggling, was I next to have trouble? Was there something I was missing? Was unethical practice inevitable? The psychological ethics literature, filled with discussions on how psychologists come to make ethical errors, validated my fears.

### *Ethical vulnerability*

Faye confirmed that my experience of feeling ethically vulnerable may not be all that unusual.

...I'm going to be really honest about this - because I don't know if other people would be or not. I think this is an area of immense insecurity for psychologists. We all want to be ethical and when I was thinking about answering your questions, I was thinking "oh what if I get this wrong" or "what if I say something" and she'll go back and they'll type it out and her advisor will say "oh, we have to do something about her". I think it's, and I know that it's not only me or I wouldn't say it, (or maybe I would), but it's something you're very anxious about because we really do want to do the right thing.

Faye suggests that due to the private nature of psychologists' work, they are not observed 'in action' and typically do not receive feedback or validation from others unless they seek it out or when they consult as a dilemma is brewing. Faye's comment suggests that this leaves psychologists with a sense of vulnerability about

being judged that goes beyond questioning whether the psychological theory or technique applied was correct. Psychologists, including exemplars of ethical practice, wonder if they are doing 'good' (i.e., ethical and competent) work. But perhaps, as Pope & Vetter (1992) suggest, this is a good thing. Perhaps when psychologists either don't have the feeling ethical of vulnerability, or ignore it, they get themselves into ethical trouble.

This vulnerability may be connected to the reality that what psychologists should do and what they actually do in their practices is perhaps not as congruent as people might believe (Smith, McGuire, Abbott & Blau, 1991). Psychologists seem to have well developed superegos. "Should do" responses are typically based on codified reasons (i.e., formal codes or standards of practice) while reasons for what psychologists actually do tend to be based more on non-codified or contextual reasons (i.e., intuition, personal moral standards, financial need, etc.) (Smith et. al., 1991). This difference between what people believe and what they actually do may reflect that there is less than consensus on what constitutes ethical behaviour (Yoder, 1998).

It is not easy to make practical ethical choices with confidence. The fact that a psychologist might "know" the rules is not always sufficient. John Raulston Saul (2001) validates this when he states that "context and reality help us to understand the real costs of striving to live in an ethical manner. They are part of knowing and choosing" (p. 92).

This difficulty reflects the long standing debate between deontological and virtue ethics. Aristotle contends that "we are inquiring not in order to know what

excellence [virtue] is, but in order to become good [virtuous]" (Aristotle, NE, 1103b28-29). Perhaps Saul (2001) has a good point when he suggests that:

Ethics is about constant choice as life moves on... In other words, ethics taken seriously means living with uncertainty. 'Embracing ethics' means putting uncertainty at the centre of our lives (Saul, 2001, p., 84).

## Defining competency as a psychologist

The age old question of "what is THE good?" is still valid and like all good questions, there is no simple answer. Psychologists are not alone in the struggle to set such professional standards of competence. Epstein & Hundert (2002) defined professional competence for physicians as "the habitual and judicious use of communication, knowledge and technical skills, clinical reasoning, emotions, values and reflection in daily practice for the benefit of the individual and community being served" (p. 227). They suggest that competence depends upon habits of the mind, including attentiveness, critical curiosity, self-awareness and presence. This definition reflects the same complexity that participants in this study expressed, that clinical knowledge and skill are insufficient for competency; there are other significant aspects to being good at what you do. You need to know who you are (virtuousness), be oriented to care about what you do (mindfulness) and be aware of context in which you do it (ethical environment).

Starting out on the practice journey is not the same for everyone. I discussed preparing for the trip previously. The type of journey planned influences the preparation needed. Preparation might be different for someone travelling through

fairly civilized territory than it might be for someone doing more extreme events. For example, every year in Northern Alberta, there is an extreme running event called the Death Race. Participants compete in a cross-country ultra-marathon that takes them over mountains, across streams, through forests, through bear country and occasionally through a pretty alpine meadow. Those who do best in this event are typically those who are best prepared. They know their strengths and abilities and have packed properly for the event. They must be very physically fit as well as have the necessary skills for navigating a wilderness course. This process is not unlike the preparation for any journey, not just extreme competitions.

Psychologists working in an established public practice where there are strong protocols and lots of supervision need to prepare personally in a different manner than psychologists establishing themselves in a single person private practice. The analogy may be that a psychologist in public practice becomes fit within the support of a running group or team while the private "sole" practitioner might be more akin to someone who is training on their own with perhaps the consultation of trainer every now and then.

What I have learned in my travels around the world is that successful travellers pack only what is necessary for the trip. They bring along items that meet their basic needs and leave them with the most options for dealing with surprises. Those that learn from their experience review their needs and equipment at strategic points on the road. There are clear fundamentals that each traveller needs and will not leave home without. This is true for the professional journey taken by psychologists. To support the preparation process, professional associations have started to clarify the

essentials for what is necessary for a safe and satisfying journey. This includes determining what constitutes the fundamentals for competent practice.

Ethics has now been confirmed as one of the foundational competencies by the Canadian Psychological Association Mutual Recognition Agreement (MRA: CPA, 2001) and the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centres (APPIC: Elman, Illfelder-Kaye and Robiner (in press); Kaslow, 2004). This makes perfect sense from Abe's point of view. He agreed that ethics are foundational to competence. "*I think the experience of being an ethical psychologist is just doing a good job and being seen as competent in what you do*". He suggests that it is insufficient to have good clinical technique or psychological knowledge. This is also consistent with Betty's view:

To me I guess that's one of the fundamental anchor stones of behaving ethically. That's the first thing you do. You make sure you're well trained, you're well informed, and you stay current. To not do that isn't ethical. Not even a matter of how you behave with other people. So it starts with an attitude and it also starts with commitment.

The Canadian Psychological Association (2001) supports the need for a psychologist to be competent in their area of practice and ethically competent. They include interpersonal relationships, assessment and evaluation, intervention and consultation, research, ethics and standards, and supervision as the core competencies for a licensed psychologist in Canada. By stating ethics as a separate competency from the typical clinical activities of intervention or assessment, professional

regulatory or guiding bodies such as CPA and AAPIC are indicating that psychologists must integrate ethics into their practice in order to be competent.

Psychologists are not omnipotent and both Betty and Abe express how important it is to integrate ethics with practice. Betty stated it most strongly when she said:

I am an absolutely ferocious advocate of people ensuring that they continue to do things for their competency. And so, if you're at a really good quality conference ... it's not like you have to go to find an ethics conference you just find a good conference and then try to make sure they have things on ethical issues, custody, all kinds of conferences do that.

Participants in this study hold that being good at what they do as a psychologist requires that they maintain both ethical and subject matter competencies.

Both Abe and Betty link the integration of ethical and professional competencies to being accountable to the larger community. Abe stated:

The easy part of being ethical is kind of like the easy part of telling the truth, you don't have to worry all the time "am I going to get caught?", because there's nothing to get caught about. "If you don't have clearly defined ethics...then you're always scrambling, figuring out what to do... "Everyone is ethical until proven guilty" ...you only have one chance, so if you do blow it, it's a small community, people know it right away.

Abe expressed that he strives to live an authentic life; he lives by his word. He applies his own ethical decision-making process with personal integrity consistent with the AAPIC definition of competence in ethics (de las Fuentes, Willmuth &

Yarrow, 2005). For him being competent is part of his authenticity. Abe goes on to suggest that authenticity and psychological theory are integrated with ethical competence. For example, Abe stated his belief that:

You know the belief that people are basically good and that people are capable of helping themselves except in extreme crisis situations to be respectful of people. Ethics also provides a really good fit, that if you are a humanistic psychologist I don't think you can be anything but ethical ... I think that when we get into some of the controlling techniques or some of the basic philosophies of something like psycho-dynamics. I almost wonder how a person could be ethical having that theoretical orientation because you are not necessarily putting the needs of the person first you are taking control of their life.

Readers of this quote who work from a psycho-dynamic perspective may find this statement inflammatory or offensive. However, this strong statement reflects how Abe understands the importance of being both ethically competent and competent in clinical technique. He is clear that his own sense of integrity would preclude him from working from a perspective inconsistent with his humanistic views. Irving Yalom (1980) supports Abe's view when he states that "when technique is made paramount, everything is lost because the very essence of the authentic relationship is that one does not manipulate but turns toward another with one's whole being" (p. 410). Abe suggests that a psychologist can't be ethical without both pieces existing in a reciprocal relationship. This statement challenges psychologists to resolve the difference between what they "should do" and what they "will do" in a way that allows the psychologist to be integrated and congruent in their beliefs and practice.

## Ethical on-the-job-training

Abe, like all participants in this study, first studied the theory and techniques of psychological practice in graduate school and then learned about ethical practice while "on-the-job". All participants in this study completed graduate studies between the mid 1970's and the early 1980's. None had a formal ethics course integrated into their graduate programs. Carla's experience was somewhat representative of how participants gained their ethical grounding.

Well, just formal classes would have been nice. I think we had one class; one psychologist does one 1.5 hour class. That was the end of it. Now I think maybe things have changed since back in the early 80's but that's what I would have liked to see, was more, more workshops, more information and that. Since then there have been ethics workshops we attended then, but there actually should be more.

Despite the lack of formal training all participants had sought out further instruction to reflect their valuing of ethical practice. For whatever reason participants in this study understood how ethics was foundational to their practice. Abe is clear that, "...*if you're not being an ethical psychologist you're not being a good psychologist... Ethics are there for a really good reason; and it doesn't tell you what to do either, it's the process you go through in figuring out what to do*".

Carla had a similarly strong view about how important and practical ethics are within her practice:

I don't think there's a whole lot that makes being ethical difficult, like there really shouldn't be, I mean it's, there are some fundamental rules, as you know as a psychologist when you're working with patients... this isn't rocket science. We should all be behaving properly when we're dealing with clients. So I think it's some of the more subtle things where the average practitioner would run into difficulties. There are some pretty clear cut guidelines for working with patients, like do no harm, no sexual relations, don't form dual relationships. So I think those are all pretty clear cut. It should not be hard for the average psychologist to follow those kinds of rules.

Times have changed since Abe and Carla became psychologists. Ethics is now integrated into almost all graduate programs (Welfel, 1992). It seems that once psychologists found a way to discuss ethics without focusing on the individual, it was more acceptable to include it as core training for psychologists (Welfel, 1992). The shift away from the philosophical foundations of ethics toward the practical application of ethical principles and the development of ethical decision-making systems may have allowed people to learn to be ethical in much the same way they learned other clinical techniques (Hadjistavropoulos, Malloy, Sharpe & Fuchs-Lacelle, 2003). Hadjistavropoulos et.al. (2003) suggested that the emphasis on graduate ethical training for psychologists makes the Code of Ethics a more practical and salient tool for ethical decision-making by psychologists than the code of ethics for another health professional (e.g., physicians). To test this hypothesis Hadjistavropoulos et.al. (2003) sent questionnaires (i.e., Ethics Position Questionnaire

and Decision Influence Scale) to 500 psychologists and 500 physicians. 208 psychologists and 123 physicians returned completed questionnaires. They found that psychologists, more so than physicians, relied on their Code of Ethics rather than on other factors such as family-of-origin values, peer attitudes, organizational climate, etc.

The participants in this study described the value of the Code of Ethics as a tool for making ethical decision-making. For example Faye described:

So people would phone me with ethical questions all the time and the one thing I like about myself is I don't think I need to know all the answers so I would ask people I respected and get back to them. But I learned more about ethics in that year and a half than I had in courses or whatever, because it was real dilemmas these people were facing and I probably knew the Code really well then because I had to go back and read it again and in interpretations. So I think that was the real gift to me.

Contrary to Hadjistavropoulos et.al.'s (2003) findings, participants in this study embedded the Code within a broader context of personal values, peer environment and workplace environment. For example, Faye in the quote above included consultation with her peers even when she was the one being consulted as the "ethical expert". These issues will be discussed further in the chapters that follow. Perhaps this difference is a reflection of acquiring ethical competence entirely "onthe-job" rather than having an academic orientation as part of formal training. This suggests that ethical influences and training may have a strong influence on the ethical choice makers we become.

# Images of Ethical Psychologists That Guide Us

Jean Shinonda Bolen (2001) suggests we become "choice makers" when we live a meaningful life. She suggests that we consider ourselves as main characters in a novel or motion picture that is being written by the choices we make and the roles we accept to play. Parental, academic and social influences may influence the script being written, but the drama develops based upon choices made. The television and motion picture industries as well as the print media illustrate some of those personal dramas for us. In so doing, the media provides us with examples of "archetypal psychologists". Pies (2001) suggests that psychologists are typically portrayed in movies as one of three iconic or mythological figures, i.e., the wounded healer, the vampire and the sage/elder. The portrayals tend to vary on the degree to which the psychologist is a whole person.

The vampire form (e.g., Hannibal Lecter) is evil and seeks to steal something of the patient for their own gain. This type of psychologist has no concern for clients other than as a vehicle for their personal gratification. This is a bad person who doesn't value professional ethics, did what was necessary to get the credentials to practice, and then does whatever they want to do.

A second form of psychologist is the wounded healer who is corrupted or injured themselves but still tries to help others. This type has empathy for clients because of the journey they have taken in their own life. The risk, however, is that the "wounded healer" is not sufficiently aware of his or her wound, and may "act out" by mistreating or exploiting patients. This form of psychologist described pretty much all of the eight psychologists who triggered my need to come to this research. They were well-intentioned people who didn't recognize or value professional/personal boundaries. This form of psychologist has sex with clients and then argues that it is mutual and not harmful. Alternatively this form of psychologist may be like Frasier Crane from the television show "Frasier" who bumbles his way through life while easily articulating psychological theory (Angel, Casey & Lee, 2006). Frasier is able to give good sounding advice to others but is unable to benefit from his own knowledge to keep himself out of trouble. This form of psychologist lives with powerful cognitive distortions that allow them to continue without emotional or professional discomfort.

The third common portrayal is that of the "mystic sage", a guide who is wise beyond the norm. This "Merlin" shares secret knowledge or insights. The psychologist portrayed in the movie The Sixth Sense is a mystic sage type (Shayamalan, 1999). He is also someone much more in keeping with the way psychologists might like to be perceived. In this movie we get to meet Dr. Crowe. We first encounter him during a playful encounter with his wife, Anna, a woman he obviously loves, and who loves him back. They are celebrating the fact that he is good at this job as demonstrated by a citation from the City of Philadelphia recognizing his "outstanding achievement in the field of child psychology". Anna is obviously proud of his accomplishments and interprets the meaning of the citation:

They're also saying that my husband has a gift. Not an ordinary gift that allows him to hit a ball over a fence. Or a gift that lets him produce beautiful images on

a canvas... Your gift teaches children how to be strong in situations where most adults would piss on themselves (Shayamalan, 1999).

Anna Crowe is far more complimentary than Hannibal Lecter about the capacities of a psychologist. While her perspective may be biased by her love for her husband, she talks of how much they valued his work, so much so that she was grateful that "Finally someone is recognizing the sacrifices you made. That you have put everything second, including me, for those families they're talking about" (Shayamalan, 1999). From Anna's perspective it took a great deal of work and sacrifice to become a "good psychologist".

Where this image starts to become problematic is that Dr. Crowe is reflecting on his life and his successes and failures as a therapist from a ghostly perspective. He has all the insights that one might expect from someone who has the luxury of hindsight. He takes on the task of being the guide to the sad boy who states "I see dead people." He mediates between the living and the dead, between earth and heaven (Pies 2001). This type of portrayal is that of the archetypal ethical psychologist. He holds both knowledge of ethics and is portrayed as all knowing and beyond the vulnerability or temptation to do unethical acts. It is difficult to measure up to this type of psychologist because death typically means that the psychologist is no longer licensed to practice in their jurisdiction.

I think I have met all three of these types of psychologists in my twenty some years of practice (well perhaps not the dead one) and therefore these depictions seem to have some face validity. However, they don't tend to describe the psychologists in my study. Some of them seemed much more in keeping with a therapist like Dr.

Jennifer Melfie, a recurring character on the HBO television series "The Sopranos" (Chase, Green, Robin, Mitchell, Grey, Landress, & Winter, 2001). Due to the popularity of the show, she may be one of the more prominent images of a psychotherapist in recent times. Dr. Melfie is presented in the first season as a traditionally trained psychoanalyst (sorry Abe) who appears to have all the traits of a competent and ethical therapist. Dr. Melfie appears very professional in her deportment and her office environment. She focuses clearly on the issues brought to her by her client. She engages in minimal personal disclosures and takes responsibility for her reactions to statements made by her client. She repeatedly clarifies her clinical role and personal boundaries with her client and with her peers. She demonstrates respect for her client's confidentiality and she maintains her practice standards by seeking regular clinical supervision.

At the same time, it was clear that the participants in this study did not always take themselves as seriously as Dr. Melfie. Combining the tone of another TV psychologist, Dr. Tracy Clark, a character played by Tracey Ullman on the show Ally McBeal (Kelly, 1998), with Dr. Melfie's professionalism seems to round out another form of psychologist. Dr. Clark presents with a professional orientation but allows more of her personality to show through, in this case through the use of irreverent humour. For example, in one episode, the following doctor/client exchange occurred:

Dr. Clark: Take a breath and...

Ally: Oh no, no, no I didn't rush all the way over here to breathe!Dr. Clark: Ally, do you realize that the average person uses about one tenth of their brain power, with you it could be less...
Ally: What does brain power have to do with...?

Dr. Clark: Mental telepathy, power of suggestion, which can penetrate...

Ally: It isn't telepathy! He dreamed the same dream!

**Dr. Clark**: I charge by the hour regardless. The opinions don't come cheaper when they're yours! (Kelly, 1998).

The characters of Dr. Melfi and Dr. Clark suggest that there is room for a psychologist to be competent and caring for clients, for such a psychologist to exist in the human realm. This portray allows for a broader range of the psychologist's attributes to emerge. For example, both Dr. Melfie and Dr. Clark display good professional boundaries, clinical skill, psychological knowledge and caring for their clients. They approach the "mystic sage" typology but are not spiritual in nature, nor do they demonstrate personal woundedness. This type of therapist is confident, creative and at times able to be unorthodox in efforts to meet a client's needs. These are examples of the therapists who are more similar to our exemplars; they are not ideal or iconic therapists. They are human and vulnerable but committed to ethical practice. There is room for variation within this style of being ethical to reflect the context of a specific psychologist's practice.

### Another Image of Ethical Psychologists: The Crone

Perhaps it is because all but one of the participants in this study were female, but the image they evoke for me is that of the Jungian concept of the Crone. The Crone is a woman in the third stage of life (following the developmental "maid" and the nurturing mother phases; Shinonda Bolen, 2001). The Crone is someone who has

come into her own power as she comes to integrate her knowledge and skills into wisdom. While this is a gendered image it speaks to the reality that it takes time for psychologists to gain sufficient knowledge and experience, to integrate that knowledge and settle into their clinical power. Jean Shinonda Bolen describes a "green and juicy crone" as someone who has lived long enough to "be deeply rooted in wholehearted involvements, living a personally meaningful life however... it may appear to others" (p. xiv). Abe describes his approach to practice in a way that is consistent with this sense of clinical power. He is willing to challenge orthodox belief systems and critically evaluate the power he has with clients.

The wisdom that evolves from the combination of knowledge and experience was expressed by Betty:

"If you don't have competence, and you don't have the commitment to maintaining a high level of competence, I think you can strive to be ethical all you want and the odds are you're going to end up not being. I don't really think you can be incompetent and ethical. I think that sooner or later those two roads collide. Because you can be in an ethics problem, being very competent and you've got a dilemma. But you can have competency issues that you're just not well enough informed about your business, to know what you're doing, and in doing so you behave unethically".

For Betty, as for others in this study, it is important to go beyond skill acquisition and academic learning to be a "good" psychologist. Ethical competence

incorporates clinical skills and academic knowledge. She went further to describe some of the subtlety about defining what she meant by ethically competent.

"...I think there are different types of ethical dilemmas... there're ones that could be foreseen and you could deal with them where they occur, and then there's ones that could be foreseen as a possibility, you're monitoring, you're anticipating, you're already considering who you might confer with or what you might do, or if it's a file that's a court one, might you need to ask the Judge to be excused from or whatever. But, but you're going to have to monitor and if it continues to emerge you're going to need to manage your way through it. And then there's the car accident

type. You don't know you have an ethical problem 'til you have one".

For Betty there is also a need to have more than general ethical awareness or knowledge. You need to maintain awareness at more than one level, scanning for both overt and subtle threats to ethical practice. This is mindfulness which evolved as another major theme in this study and will be discussed more in a later chapter.

Doris affirms that ethics are also foundational for her practice but sees that they link into her personal experiences with life, not just her professional world. Doris seemed to embody Shinoda Bolan's (2001) archetype of the Crone.

"The influences for my ethical development are not in my practice, they're in my life. There are experiences in my life and there are experiences with people I've been in relationships with and in many ways the things, the interaction in that relationship has taught me something of how not to be and the lessons learned from there". For Doris ethics are developed within relationships as well as from life in general. She alludes to the value of her being in community with other psychologists, in this case to learn "how not to be". More will be discussed about the ethical community in a later chapter.

Faye expresses her views on competency more pragmatically than others. Yet she also offers simple wisdom while discussing how being client centred is her primary focus.

"I need to look at the world in a more simplistic way than I know some of my colleagues do, or at least from what they say to me. To be an ethical psychologist to me is really very simple. You take the Code of Ethics and you look at what you're doing. You have a very clear picture in your mind of what is the right thing for the client. If you put the focus on the client and what they need and then you do that within the context of our ethics. And then I think if you look at complex situations and say, at the end of the day will I be able to say with the information I had and believing I had at least done my homework".

Ethical competence for Betty carries a sense of demonstrating proactive behaviour. Betty's comments suggest that sometimes psychologists start out on an orienteering run through a park, thinking that if they stick to their originally planned route they will be fine. However, while on their journey, they take what seems to be a great short cut and then trouble begins.

"... What I see so often is that people "make deals" and they "cut corners" and at first it's just a little deal and it's a small corner, but then

it's a bigger deal and a slightly sharper corner and the next thing, they fall over the edge of a cliff somewhere and it's a couple of bounces on a long way down, and then they sit there and think "how did I get here?".

The need to aspire to a higher clinical standard is important to her. She supports the notion that having a detailed map, a plan to get through the clinical terrain, and solid check-points are a great way to practice. She was clear that without paying attention, you can end up in some pretty scary situations. What might have been a safe situation one day can change with the addition of one variable, much like the safety of an outdoor trail can change with a shift of weather or the emergence of a bear. The participants of this study seemed to appreciate that practicing ethically depended upon being aware of the practice terrain and the types of hazards that could emerge or develop. More than one participant commented on the reality that psychological ethics have evolved over time and continue to do so. Erika expressed this when she said:

"I've been working for the College since '93, that's 10 years that I've been aware of our code of conduct and code of ethics.... And there are always changes and they're always updating and there are always you know, new things coming out and just really to be aware of some of that stuff".

# Ethical Orienteering on the Long and Winding Road

The psychologists in this study were following maps that have well defined landmarks, pointing out safe and perilous aspects of the terrain. Over the course of their experiences they have learned how to read the map, use their

compasses and plot appropriate courses. They are clear that the most direct route is not always the best. They are also clear that they needed to integrate their knowledge of their craft with their knowledge of themselves to ensure that they had what it took for the route they planned. The ethical stance they took was as important as the academic and practical skills they held. Their competency was expressed through their transparency- who they were internally was matched externally. Their insides and outsides matched.

# **The Traveller**

A description of a journey is not complete without describing those undertaking the trip. When asked to describe their personal experiences of being ethical, the participants in this study embedded their answers within the story of their own lives. They described how they came to their ethics, the importance of ethics to them, how their ethical knowledge and skill developed. They described who they were, not just how they "did" ethics. They defined competency, mindfulness and an ethical environment as important themes to their ethical experiences. They also named character-based virtues such as honesty, integrity, humility and caring in describing their experiences of being ethical. Thus virtue became an important aspect of this exploration of the experiences of ethical exemplars.

# An Exemplar of Ethics

The first exemplar of ethical behaviour that I encountered had been on his journey a long time. Father Bysztyo, my first university ethics teacher is a Hungarian priest who was ordained in 1947. Father would wander into the classroom, look around, slam his cane onto the desk and announce, 'good evening, d'at was d'bell, let us begin'. He was intelligent, somewhat stern, yet kind, and, given that he was also an official Exorcist, he exuded confidence in his ability to sort out right from wrong. There was nothing 'holier than thou' about him. He was a down-to earth man who had lived a complex life that had placed him in many difficult ethical situations. Father was also a gifted story-teller with a way of weaving a dilemma that kept us on

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

the edges of our seats waiting for him to get to the end of the story and tell us the 'right answer', i.e., the choice he made.

During one class he told us the story of how, during World War II, he served in the army. He had been training with his unit one day near a train station. An Allied plane bombed a train waiting at the station. As the train and its cargo of munitions exploded, all the group of soldiers could do was "hit the dust" to avoid being hit. Father described that the hardest part of the experience was staying down. He described that a spot "just over there" looked lower and therefore, safer. It was hard to stay put and not run to that spot. One of his peers did not resist the temptation and as he got up to run, shrapnel cut him across his abdomen and his intestines spilled to the ground mixing with the dirt. The man, clearly dying and in extreme pain, begged his friend to shoot him and spare him the agony of a slow death. Father had a gun.

At this point in the story he turned to us and said "now, what do you do?" The class discussion was animated. We battled through our options. We discussed the principles we had been taught. Which applied, which didn't? We found our discussion focused heavily on who Father was as a person and the impact of his decision. Was he a more cavalier youth at the time? Did his experiences in war shift him toward the Church or was he always devout? While lying face down on the field, gun in hand, Father was alone, no one was there to consult with him about what he should do next. He had to make a choice based on who he was and what he knew about right and wrong.

After the discussion we all turned to Father Bysztyo, expecting to hear "the answer" and what he did. Father never did tell us. He confirmed for us that all we

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

could do when faced with ethical dilemmas is to think about our values and the ethical principles we hold and make our best choices. He challenged us to be good (i.e., virtuous) people, to be the best people we could be and to use what we learned to do the good work we were training to do.

None of the participants in this study bore much resemblance to Father Bysztyo. They were all younger than he was, all were secular and, as far as I knew, none had cast out any demons recently! Yet every time I went to start writing about virtues, this story came to mind. Father's message seems relevant. The common ground shared with Father was that who they were was as important as how they were ethical.

# Virtue And Psychological Ethics

Discussions of virtue ethics often begin with Aristotle's Nichomachean Ethics (NE). Aristotle explained that the goal of the virtuous person is to live a life of action in accordance with reason (i.e., and in doing so would achieve the ultimate end for human kind, which in his view, was fulfillment and happiness; Aristotle, NE, 1098a15-18).

For psychologists, this life of action is the practice of psychology. The reason or principles that Aristotle refers to are those entrenched in the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists. The Canadian Code of Ethics (2000) offers four principles that reflect the virtues of respect, caring, integrity and responsible action. These principles were designed as a guide to everyday conduct and thinking; as a tool to support the resolution of ethical dilemmas; as a means to unify psychologists in the direction of their actions; and, as a tool to support psychologists in adjudicating complaints about their behaviour. For the psychologists making nominations in this study there was a sense that those they nominated uniquely embodied "being ethical" according to these principles. These nominators may have been nominating psychologists who were living a more virtuous practice than other psychologists.

The ultimate ethical end for psychologists is implicit within the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists. However, it is not clear whether the principles are designed for the client's or psychologist's ends or both. Is the Code written for psychologists to support their clients in their quest for fulfillment and happiness or for their own end? It falls to each psychologist to discover where this ultimate end lies but the code specifically calls for virtuous action on the part of the psychologist. Taking the client's world-view into account as part of ethical practice was important for participants in this study. For example Faye described:

To be an ethical psychologist to me is really very simple. You take the Code of Ethics and you look at what you're doing and you have a very clear picture in your mind of what is the right thing for the client. You have a clear picture that you're focusing on what the client needs.

Erika had a similar dual focus when she expressed her valuing of the boundaries of her role with her clients:

That's important for me in me taking care of myself and of course important for the client as well. We maintain a professional therapeutic kind of relationship. We're not here as friends. And it just stays in this office it does not go beyond. That's really clear. So that's, to me that's easy. I don't tend to

get caught in that kind of stuff. I will think about it, you might think oh wouldn't it be nice if I could... and just making sure you don't go there.

It appears that participants in this study embraced this call to virtuous behaviour as one aspect of a more holistic orientation toward their life ends. They expressed how important it is to know oneself so that the opportunity to be helpful to others is maintained.

### The Personal Is Professional

As mentioned previously, participants in this study did not separate their personal from their professional selves in our discussions of their experience of being ethical. However, contemplation of the boundary between the two dimensions of the self was something that seemed very important. For example Faye described how she needs to be non-judgemental and respecting of her client's experience when it can be very different than her own:

We have to be very careful to keep our values and the things that would fit in our personal situation and really understand it may not fit that other person. There is the big picture where it's an ethical picture that fits everyone but I do think people live in different situations. For example, I worked with teenagers who had stolen food. Well in my world stealing is bad. It's not an ethical thing to do and it's something that if I did it in my practice it would be totally wrong. But I understand that when you're starving and you see some food and you take it, that's a different thing. The issue raised by participants seemed to go beyond simple awareness of personal and professional boundaries. There seemed to be a dynamic process involved where doing good work supported the participant in being a better therapist and in doing so made the therapist a better person. As Doris states:

It's not something I've thought about consciously as to how I ethically practice my profession. I think more ... about what kind of a person I want to become. That I have thought about lots. ... For me that kind of flows into how I do my work, so the two are not that separate. But it has been very important for me to look at the kind of person I want to be and try and move towards that and not always successfully, but you know I do have a vision of what it means, what I want to look like before I die.

With this orientation it is difficult to isolate Doris the person from Doris the psychologist. She brings all of herself to meet with clients in a genuine way but one that respects her clinical role. She sees herself and her client on a similar road and they walk together. Doris has developed an integrated approach to her ethics. She has established the habit of self-reflection and mindfulness referred to in another section of this paper. She has in her mind a vision of the ethical person, of how she would like to be. This internalized self establishes the direction of her practice. However, there is humility in Doris' approach as she is also aware that she needs to connect with others to ensure that she is being true to her vision.

I am certainly not a person who lives alone in that kind of, you know in terms of how she thinks. I think out, I think in my head and then I think out loud and I think out my beliefs, and get feedback. So I think that, all of that over time and

just I think, just living life, I'm 56 and I think I've lived through a whole bunch of things and it's made me realize to some extent that there are no simple answers and that we all need to live with some sense of kindness.

### The Ethical Value of Life Stories

Doris connects her sense of ethics with her life narrative. Walker (1993) described how important it is to consider the ethical narratives people provide. The stories people share demonstrate how they organize morally relevant information and how they weave their personal, professional and cultural values and commitments into the expression of their ethics. It also provides stories of their mutual accountabilities. Walker (1993) asserts that stories of ethical deliberation and decisions have to be acknowledged by some moral community and therefore are also expressions of accountability. The ethical stories of participants in this study were clearly grounded in the community of psychologists as well as the larger personal/geographic community in which the participants lived. Each participant told their story of being ethical in a linear format, moving forward in time, the typical Western European tradition. Each participant told a story of acquiring their ethical traits. Some included how their ethical natures evolved from childhood, some through observing virtuous role models and others told tales of learning through experience.

### Developing the Habit Of Being Ethical

Aristotle defined virtue as a trait of character that becomes manifest through ethical actions becoming habitual (Aristotle, NE, 1103a 32-1103b2). He suggests, for

example, that the honest person is truthful as a matter of principle and has the habit of telling the truth. The habit is formed through action. Courage is developed through courageous acts. People develop honesty by telling the truth. Therefore, Aristotle held that people are not born ethical but must start the process somewhere. On the other hand he taught that people can't be unethical all their lives and that, just by learning about ethics become ethical. Aristotle's views were reflected by participants in this study. For example Betty "...*came from a family where things that you did were very clean. You did what you said you would do. You laid it out clearly, your word was your bond, as old fashioned as that is..."* Abe reflected that his professional ethics were linked to his family of origin and the principles he absorbed from them as a child.

...looking back it probably started with my parent's approach to their work ethic. If you're going to do things, you're going to do them well, you're going to take pride in it and you need to feel good [about] yourself and not just wait for other people to jump up and down and applaud.

Both Abe and Betty reflected that their ethical stories began as children and that these early teachings were foundational structures to their personal ethical development. The values held by their families of origin were important influences on the ethical habits they were to develop. Inherent in these descriptions of early learning are messages about integrity, honesty, and personal commitment to excellence. Another inherent aspect of these messages is that of accountability to self and others. Also these statements reflect that there is intrinsic value in doing the right thing for its own sake.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Aristotle (N.E. 1179b 24-26) would have agreed that it is important to raise a child to have virtuous habits suggesting that to do so is like ensuring that by preparing the soil now, future crops will have fertile conditions. Aristotle held that preparing a child to be ready to act in a virtuous manner is to instil in them what might, in Freudian terms, be the child's superego (Freud, 1985). "The character, then, must somehow be there already with a kinship to excellence, loving what is noble and hating what is base" (Aristotle, NE 1179b 29-31). He held that while it isn't impossible to teach an older person to be virtuous, it is much more difficult and potentially more painful for the person in that it increases the need to refer to laws and the subsequent punishments for breach of those laws.

### The Nature/Nurture Debate For Developing Ethical Psychologists

A debate exists within the professional psychological literature about whether an ethical psychologist develops from a virtuous person or whether an ethical professional psychologist can be developed without consideration of their character (Truscott & Crook, 2004). Truscott & Crook (2004) suggest that "when we have internalized ethical principles and values... we act ethically because it feels right". Participants in this study suggest that they have developed virtuous habits and that there is value in considering virtue ethics for professional ethical development.

Elman, Illfelder-Kaye & Robiner (in press) considered that individual factors including an "individual's innate capabilities, curiosity and motivation" (p.11) were important in the development of the professional psychologist. The process described is consistent with O'Connor's (2001) findings that the practitioner's developmental

background and professional roles contribute to the experience of professional distress and impairment. If the psychologist's personal characteristics are a risk factor related to experiencing distress and impairment it stands to reason that they may also be protective factors in being ethical.

### The Important Thing Is The Relationship Between Therapist And Client

Betan (1997) is consistent with Doris's early statement about who she is being integrated with the type of practice she engages. Betan asserts that virtues play a significant role in ethical practice because they define the person coming to an ethical interaction. Virtues describe the characteristics that the psychologist brings to the clinical relationship and defines the basis of ethical interactions (Betan, 1997). This view affirms that even when clinical work is progressing well and the client-therapist relationship is strong, the ethical orientation of the therapist is important. Even beyond this, Kozart (2002) holds that the characteristic traits of the psychologist influence clinical progress. People don't just change because of the clinician's technique.

The ethical characteristics of the therapist contribute significantly to the possibility of change to occur. For example when Carla speaks about her need to be seen as fair by her clients, she is sending a message of how she values them, the nature of her relationship with them and the direction she will take in therapy.

You know the word that comes to mind is fairness... when I'm dealing with difficult situations I try to see it from different perspectives, each party's perspective... I'm trying to be as fair as I can and sometimes that means telling

your own client...honestly that they're not working hard enough in therapy...especially when there's a third party payer paying the fee... It's hard to get in to a whole lot of trouble out here if indeed you have a rationale for what you're doing and you're coming from a position of fairness.

Carla educates her clients about change and her expectations. A client who encounters Carla encounters her personal commitment to fairness and can be assured that she will work with them with this in mind. Similarly for Erika:

I hope I'm an ethical person even when I'm not being a psychologist who's wearing that hat. You know how you treat people, your family, your friends, your colleagues. You know, I believe the way you treat people, treating others the way you would want them to treat you.

These psychologists focus on who they are as people, while with clients and peers and how this impacts their practice. They do what they consider the right thing for the right reason. Carla confirms this when she states that:

My peers have seen me in public practice and they've seen me in private practice and I think, I hope they believe that I brought my public practice values into private practice... I don't think they see me as somebody who is simply here to generate an income.

Similarly, Betty described how her ethics have become habitual, integrated into who and how she is in the world.

Ethical behaviour, ethical conduct is really a style of life and a philosophy, so it's not something you just put on when you're in trouble, or put on when you have a problem. It's a way of being... And that still doesn't mean it's perfect, or you're perfect, and it doesn't mean you can't get in a bind or, or you know, can use some reasoning that in hindsight you must have thought you were having a "brain dead" day.

The importance of virtues is clear from the descriptions provided by participants in this study. In fact, there were three virtues that each participant identified when describing their virtuous characteristics i.e., honesty, integrity and humility. These are virtues consistent with the virtue ethics literature and might be considered what Medieval scholars described as cardinal virtues. The term cardinal derives from the Latin word *cardo* meaning "hinge." The cardinal virtues were so named because they were seen as pivotal to living a good life (Audi, 1995). Honesty, integrity and humility seem to be pivotal in the experience of the exemplars of ethical practice in this study.

#### Honesty

The Oxford English Dictionary (OED) defines honesty as being fair and just in character or behaviour, not cheating or stealing, free from deceit and untruthfulness and showing fairness. Honesty was named by all participants as an important virtue. Abe described how honesty was integral for his practice:

The easy part of being ethical is kind of like the easy part of telling the truth, is you don't have to worry all the time "am I going to get caught?", because there's nothing to get caught about. The whole ... You know the whole thing, the confidentiality for example only exists for the client, and it doesn't exist for the therapist. So if you screw up, people are going to know about it, hopefully. And hopefully, something will be done. So, it's easy, because it's, ah ... if you laid everything out up front, let the client know how you work, what to expect, then there's no surprises, you don't have to do any backtracking. If you don't have clearly defined ethics, a clear way of informed consent in all the other aspects, then you're always scrambling, figuring out what to do and you don't have a knowledge of what to do cause ethics are just the over-riding ideals, they're not practical; you've got guidelines that are more practical.

Abe is confident in his work and welcomes the reality that if you do not do 'good work' your reputation diminishes. This is an engaging style of honesty that departs from the "cover your backside" approach to ethics that is somewhat prevalent in the literature (Plante, 1999).

Abe went further to discuss his habit of being honest from a practical perspective.

I think by just being really honest and up front with people, which involves being ethical, that later on in some way it comes back to you...

Abe is motivated to do "the good" because he values it and also because he recognizes that doing so has reciprocal value. He has developed a state of character where he internally values honesty as "his good" and he sees that it is also beneficial to his practice and person.

Doris' understanding of honesty demonstrates an integrated virtue that speaks to her relationships with clients and her self-awareness.

I really think it is a singularly... wonderful kind of a gift to be able to do what I do because it's really helped me to reflect on my own life, as well, as when I'm

doing this work. To see where I am being honest and where I am not being honest in my own life as I encourage people to explore their feelings. And so, in a way, my practice keeps me honest as I keep my practice honest. It's a sort of a dynamic that exists between me and my practice. It's kind of a weird kind of a relationship in my head with my practice.

# Integrity

Integrity is another important virtue for participants. The on-line Encarta Dictionary defines integrity as the "quality of possessing and steadfastly adhering to high moral principles or professional standards". The OED defines integrity as moral uprightness, wholeness and soundness. Faye provides insight into her sense of integrity when she states:

You have to do what you know is needed and what is right, even though down the road someone may say you shouldn't have done it. That's been a valuable lesson. You know you can only do the best you can in that situation as long as you've got advice and done your homework.

Erika holds a similar integrity which involves her having a keen awareness of her clinical motives and the steadfast focus of her professional actions.

That's important for me in me taking care of myself and of course important for the client as well. We maintain a professional therapeutic kind of relationship. We're not here as friends. And it just stays in this office it does not go beyond. That's really clear. So to me that's easy. I don't tend to get caught in that kind of stuff. I will think about it, you might think oh wouldn't it be nice if I could... and just making sure you don't go there.

Part of being an ethical psychologist is to understand your values so that they do not "leak" out and interfere with your work. Psychologists are taught to be objective and set apart from clients to detect and deal with transference and countertransference (Freud, 1985). At the same time there is an expectation to be with clients "in the moment". Narrative interventions speak to this tension by supporting a move to externalize the problem so that both the therapist and the client can address it together (Freedman & Combs, 1996).

This sense of boundary is not limited to the psychoanalytic tradition of distancing from a client's world, but connects with the Foucault's understanding of power (Frank & Jones, 2003). Frank & Jones suggest that Foucault challenges us to consider who we are as a social construction and that in being ethical we must consider the relationships of power we hold and those held by peers or clients. Foucault distinguishes between domination and expressions of power in relationships. There is inherent power inequity in the therapist-client relationship and the expression of that power is an important consideration in determining ethical action.

#### Humility

Humility (from the Latin word *humilus: lowly*) is defined in the OED as having or showing a low estimate of one's own importance. Meekness is also a component of humility suggesting a gentleness of nature. Humility was identified as an important characteristic of the ethical psychologist. Participants expressed humility in needing

to accept responsibility for errors and make things right with clients. Being human and therefore fallible is understood by the participants in this study. For example, Carla described handling a situation that involved a dispute with a third party payer regarding who owned the client file. After recognizing her error she stated that "*I* phoned the client and said this is how it is and I apologize to you but they're actually claiming ownership of this document, it's my mistake, I thought you could have full and complete access".

This incident was powerful for Carla in that it represented the final step of an important learning process and she realised that the lesson wasn't complete until her client was consulted and informed.

Saul (2001) evokes Solon's words in identifying the role of humility to the ethical professional.

Public evil enters the house of each man, the gates of his courtyard cannot keep it out, it leaps over the high wall; let him flee to a corner of his

bedchamber, it will certainly find him out (Solon from Saul,2001, p. 65) Saul suggests that without humility there is a lack of self-scrutiny or vigilance that leaves one vulnerable to the "public evil". Abe expressed his similar understanding when he described that humility is important because trouble happens when we get too full of ourselves. When we believe that we know everything about being right it leads to arrogance, complacency, short cuts and trouble. Betty also thought along these lines when she stated "*That you can't afford to get too smug, or comfortable, or complacent, 'cause the minute you do you're probably at risk for tripping in trouble*".

Humility was important to Doris as well. It was clear to me that Doris had processed her value as a psychologist at a very personal level. She was aware that she shared traits with her clients, that they were more like her than different.

Somewhere in the process of living my life came the realization that it really is a process and for people to understand there are deviations, and for me to understand there are deviations in my life that get me off course. But really, if I sort of believe that it is a process I can get myself back on and so can they. And, if I bring that kind of orientation to my life, or try and understand the struggle of that, then I can bring that orientation to the people I work with and understand their struggle and scares and fears when they are working.

In this statement Doris evokes the spirit of Levinas who challenges our perception of "other". Nortvedt (2003) described Levinas' idea that an encounter with vulnerability calls for reflection and that the true source of ethics comes from recognition and respect rather than knowing and understanding. Doris seems to recognize herself in the face of her clients and in doing so they become part of her world in a subjective way.

Faye has a similar experience with humility. Her approach is to understand the vulnerability of other therapists not necessarily through having similar experiences but in having the ability to put her in their shoes, to understand their experience in terms of her own.

How do you care enough to let them know they're important and valuable and that you do care what happens to them, but not care so much that you can't keep doing it because you're a wreck or where it gets to be inappropriate? And I know that's one of the ethical violations that are so terrible for all of us because it makes all of us feel bad.

Being ethical requires a sense of personal identity for Doris. She describes a lifetime of learning about herself as a person and a professional. She has a quiet dignity that she brings to her disclosures. Doris holds a view that life is constantly moving forward and full of life lessons, not all of them pleasant.

And it doesn't mean being wrinkle free. You know, really what I want to be, the kind of person I want to be and, so for me this is all just part of the same process of moving towards being that kind of a person. And for me, the essence of that really is the process and the essence of that really is to have, in its most profound way, a sense of kindness within oneself.

Faye holds the need for ongoing learning and self-awareness as necessary for her ongoing ability to be ethical. She holds that her sense of hope and purpose needs to be refreshed to maintain her ethical practice.

I think the opportunity to talk with people just starting in practice is really helpful because they have that wonderful idealistic attitude that I hope I never totally lose. And I still believe that most people are ethical at heart and make mistakes and I don't ever want to lose that because I know some, from my experience, some professionals have lost that and then I think that slides into and makes their practice unethical. Because they assume sort of the worst instead of the best in others.

### The Link between the Personal and the Professional

Abe's bottom line is that being virtuous may mean limiting what you do because of what you believe. His habit of being ethical influences the type of work he chooses and may lead to his turning work down if it is inconsistent with his ethics.

I think the difficult part is when you're in private practice and you're being ethical, you turn business away. It would be easier to just sort of scramble and stretch beyond your areas of competence because you want to get money. And there are people out there, unfortunately, that act that way and they just want to make a buck, and they want to fill their schedules you know, even if they're not really confident, but again, it's not doing a good job.

Virtue ethics is important to the practice of psychology as it provides the link between the practice of psychology and the practitioner. It is clear in the research literature that the relationship between therapist and client is more important than the intervention chosen. Therefore, who the therapist is must be important as well. Each psychologist may cultivate a different expression or habit of being virtuous. Being virtuous is an expectation of being a psychologist as the principles of the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists demand it. The ethical exemplars in this study may not be more ethical than other psychologists; they may have developed ethical habits that are more visible to others. You have brains in your head. You have feet in your shoes You can steer yourself Any direction you choose. You're on your own. And you know what you know. And YOU are the guy who'll decide where to go.

Dr. Seuss (1990)

### Oh, the Places You'll Go! - The Ethical Environment

### Setting Out On the Road

My first significant journey away from home after high school was a student exchange to Sweden. I lived there for a year and learned many things including a new language, new customs and how to drink coffee. This was good preparation for the world of academia, particularly the coffee drinking part. It was also my first experience of being socially isolated. The first few months, until I learned to speak Swedish, were difficult. I felt very alone and vulnerable. I had a host family, a school and a purpose, but initially I didn't have a peer group and I didn't know the cultural rules. I had people around me but I felt much like an island, something a bit unusual for a prairie girl but perhaps not that unusual for a Swede. There are over 24,000 islands in the Stockholm Archipelago (Wikipedia, 2005). The image of being an island in that archipelago comes to mind today in response to one of the significant theme arising from this study: that of the ethical environment in which psychologists practice. Psychologists are somewhat like the islands in an archipelago. Each island is unique. Some are closer to the mainstream than others. Those closer to the mainland are more connected and protected than those nearer the open sea. Those further out are more likely to encounter the brunt of bad weather and be further from supports when trouble happens. Each island is independent but way down deep, beneath the surface, they are all connected to each other and to the mainland.

#### Location, Location, Location

The highly ethical psychologists in this study exist, not necessarily closest to shore, but definitely not out at sea. They exist in close proximity to others. They stay close enough to communicate easily with the mainland and with other islands. They receive and provide support and shelter for one another; yet, they remain separate enough to have independence. Betty describes this in her description of her environment:

And it also means you confer. I mean people call me a lot but I confer a lot; I mean we confer a lot within our firm. It is a vital, vital part because it's the old forest and the trees situation. If you come to me and I'm at arms length, I can see it quite clearly and give you some feedback. And you may have the same thoughts but you just need to check, or you may experience emotion and upset that goes with whatever's come, and it just isn't possible to think too clearly. ...I'm the same way. I may be upset or I may be disappointed in somebody, let down, or just caught off guard... even if you think you know what to ..., you just need that next level to bounce it off of.

Betty reveals that relationships with trusted peers allow her insight into her practice that supports her in doing high quality work. She values communication and interaction with other psychologists in order to support her freedom to practice independently. Betty established a proactive and reciprocal system of relationships that supports her in her daily efforts. She established herself within a collective of likeminded peers who monitor not only their own practices but, in an informal manner, hers as well and vice versa. Faye describes a similar process:

"One of the other things that influences my ethics a lot is working in private practice with people I respect. And one of our ethics or decisions is that we always check with each other if there's uncertainty. I know from experience with the Psychologist's Association as well that, a lot of times it's not as clear as one would think when you read the Code of Ethics. And you really have to make judgment calls, or you need to be reminded, so those kinds of things are really important so that, my colleagues would be real influences in that as well. And that's changed and improved a lot.

Both Faye and Betty consult with peers as a part of their daily routine without the identification of an emerging dilemma. The relationships they describe are ones of trust, caring and compassion. Their relationships allow them to express themselves as emotional and caring beings in a way that also supports appropriate boundaries and client safety. Their relationships provide a supportive context for the expressions of the virtues discussed earlier in this paper.

### Trouble Detection

An important aspect of the described relationships is that they are built before "trouble" tests them. The system is already engaged and integrated into daily practice and therefore, it is more likely to be accessed. This practice is very much like the preventative measures being taken in Venice (another European archipelago). Venetians have had sufficient experience with high tides to know that they need to build in protective systems, before they are actually needed, to ensure the longevity of their city. They are building a responsive system to ensure that the old port does not get swamped by incoming waves.

Betty described that there are, in her experience, two types of ethical waves that can confront a psychologist:

There are ones... that could be foreseen as a possibility, you're monitoring, you're anticipating, you're already considering who you might confer with or what you might do... And then there's the car accident type. You don't know you have an ethical problem 'til you have one.

There are those ethical problems that you can avoid through good planning and those that crop up and you manage through informed reacting. Like the Venetians, Betty believes that the system of having an existing support network is good strategy for managing the emerging forms of dilemmas. This is the ethical version of "a stitch in time saves nine". Being prepared for ethical difficulties ensures for Betty and others that those potential ethical situations are identified, managed and problems are avoided, perhaps even before a dilemma emerges. It would seem that the typical

method of calling for support when an ethical dilemma (of the crisis oriented car accident kind) arises may be effective as a follow-up measure. The CPA and other professional codes of ethics are often used to stitch an opening tear in a seam (i.e., resolving dilemmas after they have been identified) rather than preventing the tear from forming.

## Early Warning Systems

It is difficult to build a support system in the midst of a crisis, when it is most needed (Greenburg, Lewis & Johnson, 1985). Greenburg et. al. suggest that stress, burnout and fatigue are common experiences among isolated psychologists and those psychologists in private practice are more likely to be isolated. This suggests that these psychologists may be practicing further out to sea. The fact that all participants in this study were private practitioners may account for the emphasis they placed on the importance of consultation relationships. It is even more interesting to note that these connections were established despite there being economic and time costs associated with the creation and maintenance of these relationships. The connections were deliberately established and nurtured. These psychologists made sure, when establishing their practices, that they found buffered islands within easy communication range with good visibility to both their peers and the mainland

The College of Alberta Psychologists Code of Conduct<sup>6</sup> and the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists define the shoreline of the psychological mainland. The Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists (Sections III.38 & 39) states that a psychologist shall "Seek consultation from colleagues and/or appropriate groups and <sup>6</sup> As of January 15, 2006, the Code of Conduct is now called the CAP Standards of Practice

committees, and give due regard to their advice in arriving at a responsible decision, if faced with difficult situations" and "encourage others, in a manner consistent with this Code, to relate with integrity". Study participants seemed to go beyond the obligations suggested in these Code standards. They not only sought consultations in times of trouble but they established a routine where consultation is built into their practice in the same way as lunch or coffee breaks. They established common space where they might encounter each other.

The establishment of these relationships and the systems that support them links to the notion of mindfulness discussed later in this study. The physical and interpersonal space that supports and encourages mindfulness is established deliberately. Social theory supports that these deliberate interactions and connections are important. Putnam (2000) describes professional organizations as an important aspect of any community because they offer a seat of social solidarity, a mechanism for mutual assistance and the opportunity for sharing of expertise.

### Creation of A Professional Community

Four of the participants in this study worked in a group practice, one participant had one colleague and the other worked alone. However, each described being in relationships with other psychologists where discussion of ethical issues was routine. Practicing within a community of psychologists provides participants with the opportunity to learn from others, maintain high standards of practice, maintain professional and ethical awareness, support and be supported by peers and experience validation as a psychologist.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Betty noted that, in her experience, the climate of practice has changed. It was more of a closed "protectionistic" shop ..., people were out there scratching and clawing around trying to make a living and you really didn't tell anybody else too much about what you did and how you did it or anything else. And that sounds harsh, but I really do think that things have changed a lot, even in what's available to people.

Putnam (2000) identified that professional practice has become more complex and that there has been observed trends across professions for increased specialization within the disciplines. Betty is aware that the practice of psychology is changing.

You go to trial, you go to court, and it's all predicated on old models. The models are changing. I see us having challenges to ethical behaviour, some of the stuff will be the same as always, but some of it will be more complicated than before. Depending on the kind of roles people are playing and the areas they're choosing to work at.

This suggests the need to associate with other professionals as people try to ensure that they are practicing well within their limits and domain.

A vibrant community includes membership, rituals, patterns of movements, jargon, memory, and gatekeepers (Condeluci, 2002). One community ritual described by all participants is that of providing support to others. Betty described that she valued consultation to the point where she became a practice advisor. She indicated that

There are a lot of times I'll say "You know this is a really tough question so why don't you call one of the other practice advisors as well". We don't

charge for it of course, the only thing I say to people who call, "could you, when things settle down, call back and let me know how it went and how it's going?" And people do. And I tell them, you know, "first of all I'd really like to figure this out with you, but I say honestly, it's part of my learning curve too".

Betty voluntarily committed her time and energy to supporting psychologists whom she may not even know personally. She commits her resources to the community of psychologists from an altruistic orientation but also because helping others supports her own personal development.

Faye was also a practice advisor and indicated that her practice was enriched due to the interactions with people calling to consult. In reflecting on giving up the role she stated that "*I may need that wake up call more often because people won't be phoning me anymore and asking me these things. And I think that's something that's really important*". Ethical consultation is one of the communication links that connected Faye to the mainland of the psychological community. As she progresses in her career, she is choosing to reduce her reliance on that form of communication and wonders about whether her own practice will then diminish as a result.

Carla was clear that in addition to seeking out ethical knowledge and skills in the literature and at workshops she also consults with peers. "*I mean it's only two of us, so we have to go outside of our practice for consultation and calling the College to get their opinion on things*". Both Carla and Erika described feeling sufficiently comfortable in their relationships with the Registrar and Deputy Registrar at the College of Psychologists that they could invite her to their offices and discuss ethics related issues. Erika encouraged this relationship by her voluntary involvement as a professional "gatekeeper" i.e., an investigator into complaints made against registered psychologists.

Oh definitely being an investigator for the College, big time... And that's why I think I'm more aware of what's in our code than a lot of the psychologists who would probably never have read it. When I did my degree way back we did not have ethics course... So certainly being investigative has helped me... I've had friends, colleagues, here and there who have been investigated and I know what they go through, and you don't want to go through that if you could avoid it at any cost. So just being sensitive to that too is a very difficult thing to do.

Each participant described how they established themselves in relationship with other psychologists as a means of anchoring their ethics within the larger context of their practice. Their descriptions, like the following from Abe, tell the story of the educational and reference value of associating with others.

Well for me, because I've never taken an Ethics course, I got chartered after my Masters, at that time you didn't have to do an Ethics course, but I do a lot of self-study for the EPPP in ethics, plus just being in practice and wanting to do a good job. So I learned a lot from the people around me. And still in the current partnership I have, we're consulting each other on a daily basis and we're not always talking about it as an ethics thing, we're talking about what is best to do for the client in this situation. It usually boils down to an ethical issue and so I think that's the easy part. The training has been, largely, from being surrounded by people that do a very good job at what they're doing, people that don't take short cuts, that aren't looking for a quick, easy way, but looking for doing the proper way.

However, Abe is quick to locate his sense of comfort in a larger context of immersion. He has found people who reflect the way he wants to practice and support his aspirations for his professional performance. "*They're also the people that I've had working with me in my career*...*These are all people I've known for a very long time and they work at a very high level and I aspire to be at, or above, that level.*"

### Stories from Shared Professional Space

A shared environment with like-minded peers also provides room for an enriched narrative to support ethical behaviour. Vitz (1990) suggests that moral development occurs within the shared narratives or stories of significant others. Empathy, caring and commitment, interpersonal interaction and personal character are supported through these stories (Vitz, 1990). This research has been about hearing participant's stories of being ethical. Each provided vignettes from their practice that illustrated what they found to be important in terms of being ethical, often these stories arose from their relationships with others, both clients and other professionals. For example, Abe described a statement made by the Registrar of the local College of Psychologists as something powerful that he carries with him. She said "*that ethics are aspirational and code of conduct is perspirational*". This fits with the earlier quote from Abe that described his preference to associate with people who also aspire to high standards of practice.

100

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Stories serve as the main ways of communicating and considering important values and knowledge to others (Pratt, Norris, Arnold & Filyer, 1999). The telling of cultural or family stories is one way that important values are transmitted from one generation to the next. The psychologist's equivalent of these cultural or family stories is the sharing of ethical vignettes, i.e., real or created accounts of ethical dilemmas. Sometimes these stories are told in journals and sometimes online (Pope, nd). Sometimes for the stories to be told, people need to gather. Erika described:

My colleagues, we all touch base. If there's an issue about what to do, talk about some stuff, certainly keeping it very confidential, not naming names but here's the situation, what would you do or how to do this. We do that regularly here, which is a really good piece, when you're working together with people like that.

This can be done in ceremonial ways or in casual encounters as part of everyday life. Talking over coffee and lunch provides a forum for the telling of ethical stories in an everyday context. There is a ritual to discussing clinical issues as noted by Erika:

"If you're going to discuss a case with colleagues, you don't mention names, you're just really aware of that and the office is very aware of the confidentiality in terms of files get locked away, our appointment book and messages get locked away in terms of confidentiality."

Doris is clear that she needs an interactive venue to support her ethical practice. "I think out loud. I think I do that better...because then I don't censure as much so it's probably a truer reflection in some ways than when I write."
The participants in this study seemed to agree that there was value in being connected to the community of psychologists that is situated within a large social community. Each participant described the role of ethical mentors in their lives. For some like Abe, Betty and Faye, these were familial influences. For others the ethical mentors they mentioned were psychologists with whom they work or have worked with previously.

Abe saw his practice situated within a larger community and that his ethics were important within that community.

"I think by just being really honest and up front with people, which involves being ethical, that later on in some way in comes back to you; that a person will phone up and say "oh, you talked to my friend 3 years ago on the phone and they were impressed; and I've got this case and we thought maybe you could help us with it". So it does come back."

He knows that people get referred to him through a 'word of mouth' process and he has respect for that form of community gate keeping. Abe knows that his practice is built on his reputation and that his expression of his ethics is directly connected to his ability to work. *"Everyone is ethical until proven guilty. I think, and the problem is you only have one chance, so if you do blow it, it's a small community, people know it right away"*. Having the ability to practice is therefore directly connected to his standing in the community and this standing is directly connected to his expression of ethics.

### The Role of Clients in the Professional's Community

There was a clear valuing of the client with all six participants. Their clients formed a part of their practice that was separate and apart from their collegial community. Faye confirmed that psychologists practice within a geographic reality that brings them, at times, into the real world of their clients. The ethical psychologist has, in Faye's mind, already sorted out what to do when encountering clients outside of the office. Clients don't have to hold the same boundaries as the therapist and may present a challenge when they are encountered outside the office.

When you get old and you've been around for a long time, boundary issues are hard because when I work with anyone that lives in my general area I usually tell them I live there in case they meet me at the Safeway close by. I say to them "I will never recognize you. I'll give you my generic smile...but it's up to you if you want to say hello or not, because ethically that's your decision, not mine to make". And then some people come up and introduce me to their family as their counsellor and I'm always a little concerned about boundary issues then because I'm standing there in my jeans or whatever and I'm very aware of that and some of them go on to say "yes and you won't believe and she gave good advice".

Faye holds that caring for clients challenges the therapist to have a clear sense of what she considers a "basic boundary in ethics". She is also clear that the psychologist must be aware of their environment in a way that is unique to psychologists and not to the rest of the community. As a psychologist, even when not

"on the clock", there is an obligation to maintain professional space and boundaries not only for the sake of the client but also for their own well-being.

How do you care enough to let them know they're important and valuable and that you do care what happens to them, but not care so much that you can't

Just as good yard maintenance adds to the "curb appeal" and value of real estate, so too does good boundary maintenance add to the value of a psychologist to a client and to the psychologist's satisfaction with their practice.

keep doing it because you're a wreck or where it gets to be inappropriate.

This limit setting is the subject of many movies about psychologists and their clients. For example, in the 1991 film "What about Bob?" psychologist Leo Marvin is unable to escape the attention of his patient Bob Wiley who has decided to integrate himself into Leo's life. Leo is frustrated to the point of threatening Bob with bodily harm to get him to go away.

Leo: You understand right? There's no other solution. You won't go away. Bob: Yes I will.

Leo: No you won't. You're just saying you will, so that when I don't kill you, you'll show up again and make everyone else in my life think you are wonderful and I'm a shmuck. But I'm not a shmuck Bob, and I'm not going to let you breeze into town and steal my family away just because you're crazy enough to be fun (Sargent & Ziskin, 1991).

In this statement Bob confirms some of what Faye expressed, that clients, despite their presenting concerns could, barring the dual role, fit into the psychologist's social world. Maintaining the boundary between psychologist and client is not always about reminding the client of the boundaries. Sometimes it is the therapist who needs to maintain their own boundaries. In the movie Lord of the Rings: The Fellowship of the Ring, Frodo Baggins (Jackson, 2002) encounters the Elf Queen Galadriel. She is not a therapist but she is the one that Frodo seeks out for guidance. Frodo is tired, troubled and overwhelmed, unsure if he can complete his task. In his despair, he assesses Galadriel as more competent for his task and he offers the Ring to Galadriel. She knows about the Ring and is drawn toward its power almost without thought. She reaches for it, thinking that she could use the power of the Ring for good. Her reach is interrupted as she envisions how the Ring would, despite her good intentions, take her over, corrupt her and lead to horrible suffering in the world. Galadriel stops herself in time and declines the offer. She then affirms for Frodo that despite his fears and fatigue, he is the only one who can make his journey.

The reflection of Galadriel is seen in Doris as she describes her relationship with her clients:

It is difficult, I think, for me to not let my own self get in the way. There are parts of me that are not always willing to be so ethical. Personal agendas, whether they be money, or pride in having, some kind of corner of understanding that is really, and for want of a better word, considered expert... I truly have to pay attention to that, to not let that get in the way of my practice, or what I want to do is quit work. I do not come across to my clients as the expert... or as the wise person. When they offer that to me, I take it in the spirit that it is offered, but take it with some sense of questioning inside.

Doris is aware that at times her clients' may ask her to take on their problems and make their journey for them. The temptation involves not only an appeal to the therapist's heart, but also to their ego. Clients may often see their therapists as powerful, wise experts and want to turn over their pain and struggle, to be relieved of their burdens. Doris describes how she needs to be aware of her own need or desire for power and to catch herself as she may reach for it.

Doris describes her relationship with her clients' power in much the same way that Galadriel describes being in relationship with the Ring. The temptation to meet a client's need by taking on the expert role and being an authority in their lives is seductive and to be resisted. The temptation to rescue or enter into a controlling role may be expressed subtly and sometimes, as Doris describes, with the client's participation and at their request. Doris' candour is welcome in that she describes that it is not always easy to maintain an ethical stance and that it is not only external forces that would shift someone from an ethical path. Sometimes it might be more desirable to take on the authoritarian role for reasons internal to the psychologist.

## The Contributions of Communities to Ethical Practice

Communities establish ways and means of dealing with interpersonal boundaries to ensure the wellbeing of their community. My experience with Swedes was that they maintained a strong regional identity that was expressed through language dialects, folk music and traditional costuming. At the same time they expressed their nationalistic sentiments by integrating the Swedish flag into all festive decorations. Psychologists also use traditional language to discuss and reinforce interpersonal boundaries. For example, Freud's teachings were clear that transference and counter-transference were behaviours to be expected, acknowledged, monitored and resolved (Freud, 1985, p.288). These terms are terms of boundary setting and observance. Psychologists of today may find these concepts important and debate how to apply them. Bennett, Bricklin & VandeCreek (1994) described the professional discussion stating, "The field has come a long way since Freud analyzed his daughter, and we should certainly not model our behaviours on those of our predecessors who, in the absence of guidelines, could not help making some mistakes during the profession's infancy" (p.264).

Doris also reminds us of how human psychologists are and how transference and counter-transference are real issues for therapists in their work. The training I received was to guard against counter-transference issues, especially when working with clients to whom you have the potential of being sexually attracted. This apparently was well placed training in that one of the most frequent complaints regarding ethical misconduct by psychologists is for having sexual contact with clients (Pope, 1990). However, that boundary has always seemed a fairly extreme situation to me which suggests that it is more likely to come to the attention of a professional disciplinary committee. What is more typical of the ethical errors made in day to day practice and less likely to be reported was reflected in Erika's statement:

I think sometimes I need to separate my head and my heart, although I might wish to do something for a client or think an opportunity benefits a certain

client if by doing something like this. I just don't go there. Just kind of keep your head and your heart separate like that. So I'm really aware of that kind of stuff.

Erika's experience suggests that she has a connection to her clients that is personal, within her professional context, and that connection is very much a product of living in shared community. Given this potential for breaching boundaries, Erika also builds her physical environment to match her clinical vulnerabilities. She works in a group practice with others she trusts and with whom she consults about cases. Additionally, she designed her clinical space to reflect the ethical boundaries that she intends to maintain. Her clerical area is separate from the waiting area to ensure that people coming to see her are given as much privacy as possible. Erika stated:

Confidentiality is an important piece for me. I am really aware of that now. I'll say lower your voices we are talking about a client and there is a waiting room here. I am just really aware of that - people's integrity and people's dignity. And I don't want to take that away from anyone.

The physical space reminds Erika of the importance of confidentiality, her need to respect the dignity of the people with whom she works. Erika deliberately created her space to reflect the type of work she wanted to do and allows that creation to remind her of her original goals.

Where we choose to live and work has an impact on the lifestyle we experience. We choose to be close to shore or further out to sea. Powerful telecommunication technology can be purchased to ensure reliable and safe communication links or an old fashioned telegraph can be relied upon to work when things get rough. Whether we choose to be closely connected interpersonally and/or physically with others or not, it will have an impact on the quality of the work a psychologist might do. Psychologists practice in real space and time. The physical space, interpersonal boundaries and the resulting connections were important to the participants in this study. Participants were clear in stating that there is practical safety in close association with other psychologists and that being "at sea" was problematic in many ways. Being connected physically and interpersonally to peers allowed the exemplars to prevent trouble from happening, to prepare for trouble that was inevitable and to rejoice in times where things go right.

Sharing physical space or at least being in a connected proximity allows for the development of real community in that people join together to celebrate rituals (e.g., attaining registration, successful client experiences or the publishing of papers) and to engage in story telling. These activities reinforce the value of community values, rules and boundaries needed to maintain a highly ethical practice. Cottone (2001) supports psychologists having a "rich professional culture" (p.45). The archipelago of the psychological community provides individual practitioners with the potential for a shared physical environment, shared experiences and opportunity for shared reflection.

## **Reflecting On the Road Travelled**

I have used the metaphor of the journey and travelling throughout this study. In my travels I have always made a point of balancing activity with relaxation and reflection. My standard approach is to fill my days with sightseeing activities and to leave my evenings unscheduled. This ensures that I have time to reflect on what I experienced during the day. Participants in this study seem to have a similar strategy when it comes to their experiences with ethics.

Mindfulness is the fourth theme that arose from our discussions. Silandanda (2002) suggests that there are four elements to mindfulness including clear comprehension, avoiding people with confused minds, associating with people who have mindfulness and having an inclination toward mindfulness. In previous chapters three of these elements have already been discussed. Competence is like having clear comprehension. The chapter on developing an ethical environment describes how to avoid trouble (e.g., avoiding associating with people who have confused minds about ethics) and engage with people who are similarly inclined toward ethical practice. The discussion on virtues relates to identification of the good in oneself and in others. The remaining element that will be discussed here is having the inclination toward mindfulness.

## Mindfulness

Mindfulness (OED, 2005) means to take heed or care, to be conscious of. "When you develop mindfulness and introspection well, you are able to catch laxity and excitement just before they arise and prevent their arising (The Dalai Lama,

1993)". It is a state of being that can be focused upon deliberately but is, in a sense, operating in the background. The Dalai Lama (2001) calls this process "loving kindness", a process that develops through focus, practice and reflection (p.57). It is atypical in my experience to hear people talk about "loving kindness" when discussing ethics and psychologists. Doris described her ethical mindfulness in a similar way.

I'm 56 and I think I've lived through a whole bunch of things and it's made me realize to some extent that there are no simple answers and that we all need to live with some sense of kindness.

Doris describes the value she places upon reflection. "*I think in my head and then I think out loud and I think out my beliefs, and get feedback.*" The level of reflection described suggests that this is an ongoing process of internal dialogue, critical analysis and external discussion. Her comments, made within the context of discussing her ethical orientation, suggest that she embraces her human nature and the fallibility that brings. Her life experience has taught her that ongoing reflection is important to the maintenance of kindness. Her willingness to live with a sense of kindness heightens Doris' awareness of herself and others.

And I think it really is being aware and to try and live my life with awareness as I am, when I am practicing my craft, I am in that session with awareness of that other person and myself. And, I find that living with awareness is just another piece of that.

In this sense Doris is describing herself very much as "Da-sein" or a being-in-theworld (Heidegger, 1996). Doris describes herself and uses herself as an anchor for her understanding of others, seeing them in herself and herself in them. She seeks to understand who she is in relationship to her clients and that by maintaining this grounding focus she remains true to her values and her craft. Doris describes a mindful and reflective orientation to her life and does not separate who she is from what she does professionally. Doris is also quite conscious of her darker side when she considers her ethics.

Difficult I think for me is to not let my own self get in the way. Parts of myself that are not always willing to be so ethical, I guess. You know, like personal agendas, whether they be money, whether they be pride in having, you know, kind of having some kind of corner of understanding that is really, and for want of a better word, considered expert. And I think those things I, I truly have to pay attention to that, to not let that get in the way of my practice, or what I want to do is quit work.

She knows that she is not perfect and that she needs to be aware of where she might end up if she does not focus on living her life deliberately.

I really think it is a singularly... wonderful kind of a gift to be able to do what I do because it's really helped me to reflect on my own life, as well, as when I'm doing this work. To see where I am being honest and where I am not being honest in my own life as I encourage people to explore their feelings. And so, in a way, my practice keeps me honest as I keep my practice honest. It's a sort of a dynamic that exists between me and my practice. It's kind of a weird kind of a relationship in my head with my practice. Doris seems to have a running dialogue in her mind that is somewhat different than simple reflection. She describes it as an ongoing "relationship" which implies mutuality and reciprocity.

This relationship is reminiscent of the hermeneutic circle where the whole can't be understood without examining the parts and the parts can not be understood except with an understanding of the whole (Heidegger, 1996). Doris learns about the aspects of herself so that she can understand who she is. To learn about who she is Doris reflects on aspects of herself as they show through her interactions with her clients. Doris chooses to centre her ethics on herself and in so doing, engages with them through her client and integrates her practice of ethics within her life, not just her practice. In so doing she is able to give back to her client a clinical practice that is congruent with whom she is as a person and a clinician. The wisdom she shares is as valid for her as it is for her client.

Abe also described his need for an integrated or deeper level of understanding ethics:

I love our Registrar's version of it... "Ethics are aspirational and code of conduct is perspirational". The second one actually tells you what to do. Ethics is a decision-making cycle and it talks about global principles, but it's really hard to take those and put them right into practice. People really have to really get an understanding of what they mean.

Abe seems to come from a place of respect for the code of ethics as a starting point for future behaviour. He exemplifies the Dalai Lama's view that focus, reflection and practice is needed for ethical behaviour. He also describes the cyclical process of

learning through a 'spiral process' taking ethics from a starting place, moving through experience of making ethical decisions to a new place of deeper understanding of what it means to be ethical. This new level of understanding allows for a higher level of ethical practice.

### Breathing Ethics into Professional Life

The statement that ethics are aspirational suggests that there is no perfect resolution where one arrives one day at "being ethical". Aspiration derives from the Latin word aspirare which means 'to breathe upon'. Breathing is connected to living: without breath, we cease to move. Aspiration also means to seek to attain or accomplish a particular goal, to ascend or soar (Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 1979). The image of soaring or gaining a high vantage point from which to see the best path is also consistent with the Dalai Lama's (2001) description of omniscience:

Knowledge and understanding develop on the basis of a consciousness that has the ability to perceive its objects. When the necessary conditions are met, its ability to perceive increases, the scope of its objects of knowledge expands, and understanding deepens. This way the mind can develop its full potential (p.30).

The striving for omniscience is consistent with Abe's emphasis not only upon reflective practice, but also on his commitment to pursuing high standards of competence and integrity as noted in earlier sections. It is not only competence that illustrates the presence of ethical mindfulness. Carla's sense of ethical mindfulness was expressed in her discussion of expressing one of her personal core virtues, fairness.

You know the word that comes to mind is fairness...When I'm dealing with difficult situations I try to see it from different perspectives, each party's perspective... sometimes that means telling your own client, honestly that... they're not working hard enough in therapy, or something to that effect, especially when there's third party payers paying the fee... I try to be fair and I think all the people that refer to our practice feel that and it's been a process of educating them as to how we do things here and how we deal with confidentiality. So that's kind of what I think of when I think of unethical practices. That it's hard to get in to a whole lot of trouble out here if indeed you have a rationale for what you're doing and you're coming from a position of fairness.

Carla educates both her client and the third party payer about her opinion about what constitutes 'good work'. She seems to have an ongoing dialogue within herself about the fairness of situations and she shares this with those who have engaged her as a psychologist. She is aware that others are watching her and that her professional impact extends beyond her direct client or others involved in her work. Carla seems to be engaged with the community at the same time she engages with a client. Her competency is assumed but it is insufficient for her to simply remain within her expertise. She demonstrates how holding a rationale for why one works in specific ways needs to walk through her day with her. This again links us back to the Dalai Lama's (2001) sense of mindfulness.

## Ethics as A Starting Place

Betty's view of ethics as just a starting place for psychologists is consistent with Carla's experience.

To me I guess that's one of the fundamental anchor stones of behaving ethically. The first thing is make sure you're well trained, you're well informed, and you stay current. To not do that isn't ethical... So it starts with an attitude and it also starts with commitment.

Betty has thought deeply about how to understand her ethics and identified the image of a building foundation. She is clear that an ethical attitude or orientation to the "clinical structure" is important. What is built on the anchor stones can be different for different people. Betty described that:

You find a mental image that works ... a screen, a filter, a cloak, whatever works for you, which is on all the time. And it can't just be on in your office, because you go out to play baseball and there's, you know, one of your clients or something on the team. I've seen some people get in trouble because they defined ethics as something you do in your office.

In each metaphor Betty suggests, there is a sense of 'being on', that her ethics are superimposed over or integrated with the other parts of her being. The metaphors suggested have the theme of utility and action. A radar screen or filtering lens can influence what is seen and what information comes through. A cloak protects the wearer from the elements. Saul (2001) creates the image of ethics being like a muscle which must be exercised daily in order to be used in a normal manner (p.66). He was not the first to create this image as he quotes Xenophon saying that "those who do not train the body cannot perform the functions proper to the body, so those who don't train the soul cannot perform the functions of the soul" (Saul, 2001, p. 75).

In each evoked image there is a sense of action that goes beyond the psychologist's office and is integrated into the psychologist's being. It is also interesting that the metaphors are not permanent fixtures grafted onto the person. In each case there is a choice involved. One could turn off radar; remove the lens; take off the cloak; or, let muscles go slack. It is important to note that Betty's language reflects that maintaining an ethical orientation is an ongoing choice of mindfulness.

Dokecki (1996) suggests a metaphor of mindfulness that is more in keeping with Abe and Doris's views of ethical mindfulness being an aspirational process. Dokecki uses the metaphor of a Jazz musician to illustrate his view of being ethical. His metaphor is also action oriented, ongoing and deliberate.

The practice of jazz makes demands on the musician as person continually to develop and extend musical technique, and to visit and revisit the jazz tradition. It is a hard task master, constantly requiring the jazz player to do the right thing. But when a musician merely plays technically in rule-bound fashion, the result is not jazz, since, as Duke Ellington said, making music, however competently, "don't mean a thing if it ain't got that swing." Improvisation, creativity and human development are at the heart of jazz. (Dokecki, 1996, p. 9)

This metaphor is consistent with the messages from previous chapters; the psychologist brings herself to the competent application of her craft within an appropriate interpersonal environment to create an ethical practice. However, it is something more than competent technique or knowledge that leads to high ethical achievement. There are also intuitive, creative and developmental aspects to ethics just as there are to jazz. Saul (2001) makes a similar point in stating that:

Common sense, imagination and memory help us maintain the daily existential nature of ethics by giving us context and the ability to imagine the consequences of actions. We know what happened before and this helps us to imaging what might happen in this case (Saul, 2001; page, 86).

Intuition and creativity allow for ethics to be expressed in more than one style of therapy and for variation of ethical expression over the course of one therapist's career. Williams (1993), another writer about Jazz music sees standards as a starting point, a launching for more and better.

Jazz knows of no absolutes: there is no one "best way" of performing a piece. Each day, each moment has its way, and hence, its own meaning. Tomorrow's way is not today's; today's is not yesterday's. That does not mean that there are no standards... my standards themselves change with my own growth and change. (p.262)

In these times where evidence-based practice is all the rage, it seems inappropriate to describe ethical intuitiveness. However, this may be one way of expressing mindfulness. The word intuition derives from the Latin (i.e., *intuiti* –of action and *intu* – to look upon) meaning an act of contemplation

(dictionary.oed.com.aupac.lib.athabascau.ca). It refers to immediate apprehension or cognition (Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, 1979). Dokecki goes on to describe the development of musical intuition for the Jazz musician:

In the act of playing, they manifested among their members very high levels of communication, mutual listening and respect, empathy of telepathic proportions, and other signs of intense interpersonal relationship...The musicians "do the right thing" and the result is a swinging and creative integration of the personal, the interhuman, and the social realms of human existence. Such peak moments do not always happen ... but they set the standard for excellent practice, and lure players and listeners into devotion to the music (Dokecki, 1996, p. 10)

# Ethical Flow

This process also appears appropriate for the ethical psychologist. All the elements described by Dokecki that contribute to peak musical moments are also ones that are at play in a psychologist's work. It is this type of peak feeling that is described by Csikszentmihalyi (1997) as "flow". A flow experience occurs when we are so totally engaged with our efforts that we seem totally alive and lost in the experience, to the point where it feels effortless. The "good work" that occurs in this state is the 'full expression of what is best in us' (Gardner, Csikszentmihalyi & Damon, 2001, p.5). Flow for the psychologist would therefore be a perfect harmony between the internalized ethical values of the psychologists, the ethical performance, and the highest ethical demands of the operating ethical system.

Flow is difficult to achieve and cannot be a goal in and of itself but in relation to another goal, such as being a highly ethical psychologist (Csikszentmihalyi, 1997). Inherent in the description of flow is the sense that it is achieved through peak performance following from prolonged high levels of achievement. Therefore, a highly ethical psychologist may be considered someone who is mindful of ethics, values ethics, knows that competence and wisdom are essential to maintaining ethics and has the practical skill to transform these internal processes into observable highlevel ethical iterative performance. From this position, the psychologist may experience peak experiences of being ethical which are rewarding but also selfaffirming.

Galadriel, in the scene between her and Frodo described previously, reflects on her choice to turn down the ring, Galadriel announces that '*I passed the test...and remain Galadriel*' (Jackson, 2002). Her reaction was one that suggested that she had proven to herself that she was able to withstand the mightiest challenge that a leader might face and yet she had persevered and in doing so experienced a moment of flow.

Flow occurs in the context of consciousness. This brings us back from the whole to the parts. Consciousness relies on education. None of the participants in this study had completed an ethics course as part of their formal training; however, all continued to develop their knowledge about ethics on their own initiative. This is consistent with Betty's belief that "*Ethical conduct is really a style of life and a philosophy, so it's not something you just put on when you're in trouble, or put on when you have a problem. It's a way of being*". Further investigation of ethics led some participants back to the philosophical roots of ethics.

#### Where You Are Going Is Connected To Where You Have Been.

The Oxford English Dictionary defines the term "philosophical" as the use of reason and argument to seek truth or knowledge of reality and ethics as the study of morals in human conduct or the rules of conduct recognized as appropriate to a particular profession or area of life. The psychologists in this study chose to learn about how ethics involves the use of reason or wisdom to determine how to conduct oneself appropriately. Betty was surprised when she undertook a self-directed university course that her research would take her back into the "philosophical underpinnings of psychology". Her early reaction to the study of ethics was that it was "*dry as a dog bone, deadly dull and totally non-interesting*" *and it didn't, although we knew intellectually it was relevant, somehow it didn't come across as being relevant*".

However, Betty's experience as she began to practice was that ethics were relevant and she found herself wondering "…how something could have been made so dull and boring because the truth is, it's something we live with every day. This shift of perspective led Betty to further studies in ethics. "When I started doing more research into ethical conduct and behaviour …I found that the roots went right back". She realized that "I was clearer in having more of a model…for what I was about, what I was going to do, how cleanly I was going to do it…"

Understanding ethical theory was important to support the ethical development of participants in this study. Learning more about ethical theory allowed

these psychologists to care more deeply about ethics and in doing so, allowed their ethical knowledge to become more integrated into who they were as people.

Peter Singer (2000) writes "knowing the difference between right and wrong involves caring about it. One can't forget about the difference, only cease to care about it." This caring for ethics was expressed by all participants. It suggests that they value ethics as an important part of their identity as a psychologist and as a person.

... Being an ethical psychologist and being an ethical person are not separate. And so for me the challenge always is to somehow bring into my practice and take from my practice, what it means to be ... an ethical human being, because I do think that being an ethical psychologist means being an ethical human being. I don't see being able to separate the two pieces out. So that is not to say that I am, you know, kind of living my life by some kind of highly evolved ethical standards but I do think that I don't draw boundaries there. The boundaries are between my public time and my private time but they are not between the person I am as a psychologist and the person I am at home. That's what it means to me to be ethical, to bring into, and it's really, I think for me it's been kind of what I, I'm moving my clients towards is what I'm moving myself towards.

## **Orientation to Ethical Practice**

The exemplars in this study appreciated that ethics requires experience and some education. However, beyond that the participants seemed to hold an orientation

toward ethical thinking. They related how they routinely found themselves thinking about ethics as part of their regular practice. They also seemed to have a sense that their own ethical understandings emerged over time from their personal ethical foundations. Ethical psychologists are not just linked to professional conceptualizations of acceptable behaviour. They are also linked to personal histories that valued ethics. For many participants their ethical orientation began its development in childhood.

I think there are two influences and one would be people that were not psychologists that helped me understand from when I was very young, the importance of morals and being a moral ethical person. So, you know those would be adults and then people that I worked with before I became chartered as a psychologist that helped me understand to look at ethics as though it's a way of doing things and that that way of doing things is to do the right thing in that situation.

In his discussion on the stages of meditation, the Dalai Lama (2001) describes that

the consciousnesses of human beings varies depending upon education and experience – the more educated you are, the more experience you have, the broader your consciousness. Knowledge and understanding develop on the basis of a consciousness that has the ability to perceive its objects. When the necessary conditions are met, its ability to perceive increases, the scope of its objects of knowledge expands and understanding deepens. It is this ethical consciousness to which participants seem to refer. For example, Erika stated:

Well I try to be ethical, I try to think of it as something I give a lot of thought to when I see my clients. It's just I do what I do, hopefully, not to make any mistakes which I think many psychologists do. You just kind of go ahead and do what you do on a day-to-day basis and hope you don't get caught for anything that you shouldn't be doing. I hope I'm not doing anything, I don't think I'm doing anything, but I have to be really aware of the Code, Code of Conduct, Code of Ethics because I work in that area too. So I certainly couldn't relate every piece to it but I'm certainly aware of what is in here. And that helps on a day-to-day basis as well.

Erika has integrated ethical thinking into a "day-to-day" practice. Faye also integrates an ethical orientation into her daily world and guards against losing it.

I think the opportunity to talk with people just starting in practice is really helpful because they have that wonderful idealistic attitude that I hope I never totally lose. And I still believe that most people are ethical at heart and make mistakes and I don't ever want to lose that because I know some, from my experience, some professionals have lost that and then I think that slides into and makes their practice unethical. Because they assume sort of the worst instead of the best in others.

## Building Ethics through Cultivation and Dedication

Faye finds the task of mentoring to be one that supports her mindfulness. She connects with the naiveté and enthusiasm of the novice psychologist to rejuvenate her focus, keeping her practice goals in mind. She concurs with Saul (2001) that time and practice can lead to a drudgery that detracts from her professional satisfaction.

The citizen's ethics has to wake up every morning, there is drudgery to it.

There is a need for constant effort, constant evaluation. Ethics is like a muscle

which must be exercised daily in order to be used in a normal manner (p. 66). Ethics may be considered a "core muscle". Personal trainer Karen Shulhan (2005) believes that a strong core is essential for increased fitness and protection from injury. She constantly finds new and innovative means to challenge her clients to new heights of abdominal strength. She believes that this constant commitment to maintaining a strong core is foundational for any higher order physical achievements. Saul agrees with Karen and Faye in that ethics requires this same dedication.

Saul (2001) views ethics as normal behaviour that occurs in normal times. He suggests that we need a certain amount of ethical fitness to maintain normal behaviour, much in the same way that walking and standing are normal activities that require ongoing fitness to manage well in life. While writing this dissertation I sprained my toe. It was a minor injury that did not require any medical attention. What it did do was bring to my awareness the mechanics of walking. The normal activity that had seemed só effortless moments before the accident suddenly became more vivid, each aspect of movement more clear in my awareness. To some extent, I

needed to learn to move and walk in a deliberate manner, in part to strengthen my foot and in part to prevent further injury. Erika had a similar experience with ethics learning vicariously and avoiding the experience of pain herself.

I've had friends, colleagues, here and there who have been investigated and I know what they go through, and you don't want to go through that if you could avoid it at any cost. So just being sensitive to that too is a very difficult thing to do.

Erika learned from the experiences of her friends and peers. Investigation by the College is not comfortable. She uses that insight to reinforce the value of being mindful in her own practice.

All participants in this study suggested that what you do, where you do it and who you do it with are insufficient factors in ensuring an ethical practice. There needs, it appears, to be a meditative protocol or an awareness building process that allows the psychologist to reflect on what is happening in their practice and in their experience of their practice. Thinking deeply about ethics, living with the insights and then returning to ethical contemplation has been helpful in supporting the development of highly ethical practice. This reflective process has led some people to experience peak performances as a psychologist which reinforces the value of engaging in an ethical practice. It is this mindfulness process that seems to be the thread that weaves together competence, virtue, and environment to build a highly ethical practice.

## Arriving

Like in the great stories there are those who take us from darkness to light. There are those who offer us hope and those who teach us to persevere. These people show us what is good in the world and what is worth working for. In seeking out ethical exemplars, I found psychologists who had sorted out how to succeed in living a 'good' professional life. Their stories confirmed that highly ethical psychologists do exist and that they have something to offer.

During the exploration phase, of this study took me through the range of psychological literature on ethics. Deontological thought has informed psychological ethics mainly through Kohlberg's work on moral decision-making. The CPA and APA rejected duty ethics in the creation of their Codes of Ethics thus guiding psychologists in North America toward more consequentialist thinking. A review of ethical decision-making models (Cottone, 2001, Hadjistavropolous & Malloy, 2000, Kitchener, 1984, CPA, 2000, Hansen & Goldberg, 1999) confirmed the ethical horizon for psychologists is broader than two theories. The exemplars in this study affirmed that virtues (i.e., who they are) and utilitarian values (i.e., the professional goals of practice and connected standards of practice) co-exist within the context of the relationships of their lives (i.e., relational ethics) and are all important factors in their lived experiences of being ethical.

The psychological ethics literature focuses heavily on decision-making models and moral development theory. The exemplars in this study did not talk about how they made ethical decisions nor did they spend much energy describing ethical situations they had encountered and how they solved them. They spoke about having

high standards of professional knowledge and about competency as fundamental to being an ethical psychologist, a starting point. It seemed that all took it for granted that psychologists would understand how to make ethical decisions. They chose instead to discuss how they valued both professional and ethical competency. They also spoke of who they were as being important to their lived experiences of being ethical psychologists. They clarified that the personal virtues of integrity, honesty and humility were as important to their ethical practice as professional competency. Further they discussed how they grounded their ethics in a supportive community that inspired them to continue their ethical development. Finally, they spoke about the power of mindfulness and the integration of professional choices with personal awareness.

My goal for this journey was to develop a rich understanding of the lived experience of highly ethical psychologists. I learned that a highly ethical psychologist is one who is knowledgeable and skilled at their craft and one who lives with integrity; and one who is deliberately connected to a strong community which holds them accountable for who they are and what they do. The highly ethical psychologist values ethics for its own sake and integrates ethical mindfulness into their daily professional and personal journeys.

The journey toward being an ethical exemplar seems to begin with a having the right tools: a map and a compass. The map allows for setting goals and markers on the path to goals. The compass provides a means of checking progress to ensure that the journey stays "on track". The participants in this study learned about ethics on-the-job and had to seek out their own guides (i.e., mentors and learning experiences) to guide them on their paths.

One becomes a highly ethical psychologist by living a deliberately ethical life. All the participants in this study discovered the value of ethics without having a formal ethics background. They are all people who were aware that ethics were important and came to deliberately foster the growth of their ethics. They sought out their own ethical exemplars to mentor them. They affirmed that who they were as people was integrated with who they were as psychologists and they sought out the knowledge and skills they needed to ensure that they were successful on the professional road chosen.

Both psychologists and the general public seemed to be cynical about the link between ethics and psychological practice. Nuttgens' (1998) description that his graduate studies ethics course was taught from a "cover-your-ass" perspective designed to tell him what to do or not do to stay out of trouble embodies this distrust. Such cynicism was also reflected in many of the portrayals of psychologists in the media. Many of the portrayals are negative (e.g., Hannibal Lector), bumbling (e.g., Billy Crystal in Analyze This) or wounded (Dr. Crowe in The Sixth Sense). Few are competent and caring. However, just as many of the participants in this study found it helpful to rejuvenate their ethical practice by revisiting the philosophical roots of ethics, the medieval image of the crone emerged as the image that best matched with the participants in this study. The crone is someone who has grown into practical wisdom through the experiences of living.

Living a good life is important to the participants of this study. They defined themselves as good people. They believed in the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists and went beyond following the letter of the code to find ways to nurture the spirit of the code. They told me stories of becoming ethical and discussed their awareness of their personal characteristics and how they influenced their ethical practice. Virtues such as fairness, honesty, integrity, humility were very important. Their being good people in a larger community context was equally important and influenced how they practiced. Participants in this study seemed keenly aware that they were beings in a larger world and that others, like their clients and families, were important too.

Like an island in an archipelago, psychologists in this study were acutely aware that they were a part of a larger context. They were aware of their proximal and interpersonal connections to other psychologists, the psychological community and the civic community as a whole. Participants were aware that they needed others in order to maintain their high standards of caring. As members of a community, participants described sharing stories and rituals that grounded them in reality and supported them in moving forward. They valued the limits that the stories and their experiences established.

Finally, participants in this study tended toward introspection. They each tended to engage in reflection on their practice and their personal development. They saw these two aspects as reflexive. Professional ethics was both a starting point and the goal for professional growth. There was a seeking of peak performance that could

not be obtained without ethical mindfulness. Participants saw philosophical and practical reflection on professional ethics as a normal part of being a psychologist.

#### **Recommendations**

The hope that arises from this study is that it is possible to orient psychologists to be highly ethical. Graduate training in ethics is a good starting point for developing the foundational competencies and skills in professional ethics. Learning what constitutes an ethical dilemma and how to approach that dilemma is a first step. A second step is living with that ethical knowledge in a context where feedback is provided. This is supported by internships and the clinical supervision required prior to registration as an independent practitioner. The exemplars in this study suggest that it is important to integrate this mentoring into a career long practice. Building and maintaining mentoring relationships takes time, energy and commitment and is highly satisfying for them.

Therefore, it may be helpful to add another dimension to the registration process, that of neophyte or novice practitioner for those who have been registered less than five years. This would be a voluntary option for provisional psychologists and psychologists who have completed the chartering process. I suggest five years because it is the current standard in determining who can be a clinical supervisor for registration purposes in Alberta. For example, The College of Alberta Psychologists considers that five years of independent practice is required to have sufficient experience to meaningfully mentor someone else into the profession (College of Alberta Psychologists, 2005). The novice period is one of full professional status but

with emphasis on ongoing professional support and mentoring. Ongoing professional education opportunities can then be designed by and for this group of psychologists that will encourage their ethical growth. Lawyers have had the "young lawyer"<sup>7</sup> (The Young Lawyers - Canadian Bar Association, 2005). sub-section of the Canadian Bar Associations for many years and it provides an important and valuable service to newly emerging professionals.

There is a debate about whether it is possible to teach or develop virtue in individuals as part of professional development processes. I contend that the issue is not so much whether we can teach virtues but whether we can inspire psychologists to develop the virtuous aspects of themselves that are connected to being a highly ethical psychologist (e.g., honesty, integrity and humility). No one can impose any course of ethical or moral behaviour on another.

Successful completion of a graduate ethics course will not guarantee that the student will become an ethical psychologist. Without an internal respect for ethics, ethical action will not occur over the long term. The exemplars in this study were clear that they valued ethics and sought out growth opportunities both in terms of ethical knowledge and how that knowledge is integrated into their lives.

Aristotle said:

Happiness... comes as a result of virtue and some process of learning or training... for all who are not maimed as regards to potentiality for virtue may win it [happiness] by a certain kind of study and care (1099b-15-20).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Young Lawyers - Canadian Bar Association (YLCBA) is a common interest group of the CBA made up of members who are under the age of 40 or who have been at the Bar for 10 years or less.

His view was that virtues are developmental in nature and that with the proper supports, it is possible therefore to develop curricula components for ethics classes or workshops that define the relevant virtues, emphasize why the virtues are important to the practice of psychology and the consequences for virtuous actions within the psychological realm. The course materials can also discuss the need for integration between a person's character and the person's actions as a psychologist. The goal of teaching professional ethics in both graduate and professional development settings is to inspire the orientation toward highly ethical practice.

This potential to inspire people to higher ethical standards also offers hope to psychologists who have strayed from the ethical path. Psychologists who have made ethical errors have the potential to reclaim their practices by engaging in rehabilitation processes that support their exposure to ethical exemplars. Through a mentoring process, a wayward psychologist can gain access to an ethically mindful community that could support their exposure to and integration of ethical knowledge and skills. The same support processes that help psychologists enter the field may support the efforts of psychologists to get back onto the ethical path.

## References

- Ahern, Kathryn (1999). Ten tips for reflexive bracketing. <u>Qualitative Heath Research</u>, <u>9(3)</u>, 407-411.
- Angel, David, Casey, Peter & Lee, David (2006). <u>Frasier</u>. Grub Street Productions in association with Paramount Television Production Division. Downloaded on January 15, 2006 from

http://www.paramount.com/television/frasier/credits.htm.

Angen, Maureen, J (2000). Evaluating interpretive inquiry: Reviewing the validity debate and opening the dialogue. <u>Qualitative Health Research</u>, <u>10</u>(3), 378-375.

Aristotle (1984). Nichomachean Ethics. <u>The complete works of Aristotle: The</u> Revised Oxford Translation. Jonathan Barnes (Ed.). Princeton, USA:

Princeton University Press (W.D. Ross translation revised by J.O. Urmson).

- Aristotle (1947). <u>Introduction to Aristotle</u>. Richard McKeon (ed.) New York: Random House. (W.D. Ross translation).
- Ashworth, Peter (1999). 'Bracketing' in phenomenology: Renouncing assumptions in heating about student cheating. <u>International Journal of Qualitative Studies in</u> <u>Education</u>, <u>12(6)</u>, 707-21.

Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards (2006) downloaded on January 15, 2006 from http://www.asppb.org/

Association of State and Provincial Psychology Boards (2006). Information for Candidates. Downloaded on February 25, 2006 from

http://www.asppb.org/publications/pdf/IFC.pdf

- Audi, Robert (Ed.). (1995). <u>The Cambridge Dictionary of Philosophy</u>. New York: University of Cambridge Press.
- Austin, Wendy, Bergum, Vangie, & Dossetor, John (2003). Relational ethics: an action ethic as a foundation for health care. In Tschudin, Verena (ed.),
   <u>Approaches to Ethics: Nursing beyond boundaries</u> 45-52. Edinburgh, UK: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Austin, Wendy, Rankel, Marlene, Kagan, Leon, Bergum, Vangie, Lemermeyer,
  Gillian (2005). To stay or go, to speak or stay silent, to act or not to act: Moral
  Distress as experienced by psychologists. <u>Ethics & Behavior</u>, 2005, <u>15 (3)</u>,
  197-212.
- Beauchamp, Tom L., & Childress, James F. (1983). <u>Principles of Biomedical Ethics</u>, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bennett, Bruce, E, Bricklin, Patricia, M. & VandeCreek, Leon (1994). Response to Lazarus's "How certain boundaries and ethics diminish therapeutic effectiveness". <u>Ethics & Behavior</u>, <u>4</u>(3), 263-266.
- Bentham, Jeremy (1988). <u>An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation</u>. Amhurst, N.Y.: Pomethius Books.

Bergum, V. (1991). Being a phenomenological researcher. In J. Morse (Ed.),

Qualitative Nursing Research (pp. 55-71). London: Sage.

Bergum, Vangie (1998). Relational ethics. What is it? In Touch ,1(2) 24-May-05 www.phen.ab.ca/materials/intouch/vol1/intouch1-02.html

Bersoff, Donald N. (1996). The virtue of principle ethics. <u>Counseling Psychologist</u>, <u>21(1)</u>, 86-92.

- Bersoff, D.M (1999a). Explaining unethical behaviour among people motivated to act prosocially. Journal of Moral Education, 28(4), 413- 429.
- Bersoff, D.M. (1999b). Why good people sometimes do bad things: motivated reasoning and unethical behavior. <u>Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin</u>, <u>25(1)</u>, 28-39.
- Betan, Ephi, J. (1997). Toward a hermeneutic model of ethical decision-making in clinical practice. <u>Ethics & Behavior</u>, <u>7(4)</u>, 347-365.
- Betan, E.J. & Stanton, A.L. (1999). Fostering ethical willingness: Integrating emotional and contextual awareness with rational analysis. <u>Professional</u> <u>Psychology: Research & Practice</u>, <u>30</u>(3), 295-301.
- Canadian Psychological Association (2000). <u>Canadian Code of Ethics for</u> <u>Psychologists</u>, (third edition). Old Chelsea, PQ: Canadian Psychological Association.

Canadian Psychological Association (1992). <u>Companion Manual to the Canadian</u> <u>Code of Ethics for Psychologists, 1991</u>. Old Chelsea, PQ: Canadian Psychological Association.

Canadian Psychological Association (2001). Mutual Recognition Agreement.

http://www.cpa.ca/documents/MRA.pdf.

Chase, David, Green, Robin, Burgess, Mitchell, Grey, Brad, Landress, Ilene & Winter, Terrence (2001). The Sopranos. HBO.

Colaizzi, Paul F. (1978). Psychological research as the Phenomenologist views it. In
 R. Valle and M. King (Eds.), <u>Existential Phenomenological Alternatives for</u>
 <u>Psychology</u> (pp. 48-71). New York: Oxford Press.

College of Alberta Psychologists (2005). <u>http://www.cap.ab.ca</u>

Condeluci, Al (2002). Cultural Shifting: Community leadership and change. St.

Augustine FL: Training Resource Network, Inc.

Cottone, R.R. (2001). A social constructivism model of ethical decision-making in counselling. Journal of Counseling & Development, 79, 39-45.

Cottone, R.R., & Claus, R.E. (2000). Ethical decision-making models: a review of the literature. Journal of Counseling and Development, 78, 275-283.

Creswell, J.W. (1998). <u>Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing among</u> five traditions. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage Publications.

Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly (1997). <u>Finding Flow: The Psychology of Engagement</u> <u>With Everyday Life</u>. New York: Basic Books.

Dalai Lama (1993). <u>Meditation by his Holiness the Dalai Lama</u>. Downloaded on October 25, 2005 from

http://buddhism.kalachakranet.org/Meditations/dalai lama meditation.html

The Dalai Lama (2001). <u>Stages of meditation: Training the mind for wisdom</u>. London: Rider.

De las Fuentes, Cynthia, Willmuth, Mary, E. & Yarrow, Catherine (2005).

Competency Training in Ethics Education and Practice. Professional

Psychology: Research and Practice, 36(4), 362-366.

Demme, Jonathon (Producer). (1991). Silence of the Lambs [Motion Picture]. Script downloaded July 14, 2005 from

http://www.godamongdirectors.com/scripts/lambs.shtml
Dokecki, P. R. (1996). *The tragicomic professional: Basic considerations for ethical reflective-generative practice.* Pittsburgh, PA: Duquesne University Press.

Dr. Seuss (1990). <u>Oh, the places you will go! (Classic Seuss).</u> Toronto: Random House of Canada Ltd.

Eberlein, L. (1987). Introducing ethics to beginning psychologists: A problem solving approach. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, <u>18</u>(4), 353-359.

Epstein, Ronald, M. & Hundert, Edward, M. (2002). Defining and Assessing Professional Competence. Journal of the American Medical Association, 287, 226-235.

- Elman, Nancy, S; Illfelder-Kaye, Joyce & Robiner, William, N. (in press).Professional Development: Training for professionalism as a foundation for competent practice in psychology.
- Frank, Arthur, W. & Jones, Therese (2003). Bioethics and the later Foucault. Journal of Medical Humanities, <u>24(3/4)</u>, 179-186.
- Freeman, Stephen J. (2000). <u>Ethics: An introduction to philosophy & practice</u>. Scarborough, Ontario: Wadsworth Thomas Learning.
- Freedman, Jill & Combs, Gene (1996). <u>Narrative Therapy: The social reconstruction</u> of preferred realities. New York: W.W. Norton & Company.

Freud, Sigmund (1985). <u>On metaphsychology: The theory of psychoanalysis</u>. Harmondsworth, Middlesex, England: Penguin Books Ltd.

Gabbard, G. (1994). Psychotherapists who transgress sexual boundaries with patients. Bulletin of the Menninger Clinic, 58(1), p, 124, 12p. Gardner, Howard, Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly & Damon, William (2001). <u>Good Work:</u> When excellence and ethics meet. New York: Basic Books.

Gawthrop, J.C. & Uhleman, M.R. (1992). Effects of the Problem-solving approach in ethics training. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, <u>23</u>(1), 38-42.

Gilligan, C. (1982). In a Different Voice: Psychological theory and women's development. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Giorgi, A. (1997). The theory, practice, and evaluation of the phenomenological method as a qualitative research procedure. <u>Journal of Phenomenological</u> <u>Psychology</u>, <u>28</u>(2), 235-260.
- Greenburg, S. L., Lewis, G. J., & Johnson, M. (1985). Peer consultation groups for private practitioners. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, <u>16</u>, 437-447.
- Haas, Leonard J., Malouf, John I., & Mayerson, Neil H. (1988). Personal and professional characteristics as factors in psychologists' ethical decisionmaking. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and Practice</u>, <u>19</u>(1), 35-42.

Hadjistavropoulos, T. & Malloy, D.C. (2000). Making ethical choices: A comprehensive decision-making model for Canadian psychologists. <u>Canadian</u> <u>Psychology</u>, <u>41(2)</u>, 104- 114.

Hadjistavropoulos, T. & Malloy, D.C, Sharpe, D. & Fuchs-Lacelle, S. (2003). The ethical ideologies of psychologists and physicians: A preliminary comparison.
<u>Ethics & Behavior</u>, <u>13(1)</u>, 97-104.

- Hansen, Nancy Downing & Goldberg, Susan.G. (1999). Navigating the nuances: A matrix of considerations for ethical-legal dilemmas. <u>Professional Psychology:</u> <u>Research and Practice</u>, <u>30</u>(5), 495-503.
- Hathaway, William, L. (2004). Expanding horizons for Christians in psychology. Journal of Psychology and Theology, 32(3), 210-220.
- Heidigger, Martin (1996). Being and Time: a translation of sein und zeit. Translated by Joan Stambaugh. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Hein, Serge, F. & Austin, Wendy, J. (2001).Empirical and hermeneutic approaches to phenomenological research in psychology: a comparison. <u>Psychological</u> <u>Methods</u>, <u>6</u>(1), 3-17.
- Hill, Adam (2004). Ethical analysis in counselling: A case for narrative ethics, moral visions and virtue ethics. <u>Counseling and Values</u>, <u>48</u>, 131-148.
- Hultgren, F. H. (1995). The phenomenology of "doing" phenomenology: The experience of teaching and learning together. <u>Human Studies: A Journal for Philosophy and the Social Sciences</u>, 18, 371-388
- International Orienteering Federation (1999). Downloaded October 23, 2005 from http://www.orienteering.org/
- Jackson, Peter (Producer). (2002). <u>The Lord of the Rings: The Two Towers [Motion</u> Picture]. United States: New Line Productions, Inc.

Jennings, Len & Skovholt, Thomas, M. (1999). The cognitive, emotional, and relational characteristics of master therapists. <u>Journal of Counselling</u> <u>Psychology</u>, <u>46</u>(1), 3-11. Jennings, Len, Sovereign, Ashely, Bottorff, Nancy, Pederson Mussell, Melissa & Vye, Christopher (2005). Nine ethical values of master therapists. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Mental Health Counseling</u>, <u>27</u>(1), 32-47.

- Jew, C.L., Green, K.E., & Kroger, J., (1999). Development and validation of a measure of resiliency. <u>Measurement & Evaluation in Counseling &</u> <u>Development, 32(2), 75-89.</u>
- Jordan, A.E., & Meara, N.M. (1990). Ethics and the professional practice of psychologists: the role to virtues and principles. <u>Professional Psychology:</u> <u>Research and Practice</u>, 21(2), 107-114.
- Kant, Immanuel (1987). <u>Fundamental Principles of the Metaphysic of Morals</u>. Translated by T.K. Abbott. New York: Prometheus Books.
- Kaslow, Nancy (2004). Competencies in professional psychology. <u>American</u> <u>Psychologist</u>, <u>59</u>(8), 774-781.
- Kelly, David, E. (1998). Ally McBeal: The Real World Episode. 20<sup>th</sup> Century Fox. Script downloaded from

http://www.twiztv.com/scripts/allymcbeal/season2/allymcbeal-201.htm

- Kitchener, K.S., (1984). Intuition, Critical evaluation and ethical principles: The foundation for ethical decisions in counseling psychology. <u>The Counseling</u> <u>Psychologist</u>, <u>12</u>(3), 43-55.
- Kohlberg, Lawrence (1981). <u>The philosophy of moral development: moral stages and</u> <u>the idea of justice.</u> San Francisco: Harper & Row.

- Kozart, Michael Fredrick (2002). Understanding efficacy in psychotherapy: an Ethnomethodological perspective on the therapeutic alliance. <u>American</u> <u>Journal of Orthopsychiatry</u>, <u>72(2)</u>, 217-231.
- Krebs, D.L. & Denton, K. (1997). The forms and functions of real-life moral decision-making. Journal of Moral Education, <u>26</u>(2), 131-145.
- Krebs, D.L. & Denton, K. (2005). Toward a more pragmatic approach to morality: A critical evaluation of Kohlberg's model. <u>Psychological Review</u>, <u>112</u>(3), 629-649.
- Lasch, Christopher (1992). Gilligan's Island [Review of the book Meeting at the crossroads: Women's psychology and girl's development]. New Republic, 207(24), 34-39.
- McIntyre, Alistaire (2000). After Virtue: the Nature of the virtues. In Steven Luper (Ed.) Living Well: Introductory readings in Ethics. Fort Worth Texas: Harcourt Brace College Publishers.
- Meara, Naomi, M. & Schmidt, Lyle, D. (1996). Principles and virtues: A foundation for ethical decisions, policies and character. <u>Counseling Psychologist</u>, <u>24</u>(1) 4-77.
- Melden, A.I. (1967). <u>Ethical theories: A book of readings</u>, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. A.I. Melden (ed.) Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall Inc.

Mill, John Stuart (1987). Utilitarianism. Buffalo, NY: Prometheus Books.

Merleau-Ponty, M. (1962). Phenomenology of Perception. London: Rutledge Classics.

Miller, David J. (1991). The necessity of principles in virtue ethics. Professional

Psychology: Research and Practice. 22(2), 107.

Moustakas, Clark E (1994). Phenomenological research. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage.

- Neukrug, Edward., Lovell, Christopher., Parker, Radha, J. (1996). Employing ethical codes and decision-making models: a developmental process. <u>Counseling &</u> <u>Values</u>, <u>40</u>(2), 98-107.
- Nortvedt, Per (2003). Subjectivity and vulnerability: reflection on the foundation of ethical sensibility. Nursing Philosophy, 4, 222-230.

Nuttgens, Simon (1998). Ethical self-protection within psychology. In Touch, 1(8),

3p. Retrieved on December 2, 2004 from

http://www.phen.ab.ca/materials/intouch/vol11/intouch1-08.html

O'Connor, Michael F. (2001). On the etiology and effective management of professional distress and impairment among psychologists. <u>Professional</u> <u>Psychology: Research and Practice, 32(4), 345-350.</u>

Thompson, Della (ed.) (1995). <u>The Concise Oxford Dictionary</u>, <u>9<sup>th</sup> Edition</u>. Oxford, UK: Clarendon Press

The Concise Oxford English Dictionary of English Etymology (2006). Oxford UK:

Oxford University Press. Access:

www.oxfordreference.com.aupac.lib.athabascau.ca/views/

Patton, Michael Quinn (1990). <u>Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods</u>, 2<sup>nd</sup> <u>edition</u>. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications. Pies, Ronald (2001). Psychiatry in the Media: The Vampire, The Fisher King, and The Zaddik . *downloaded March 27, 2005 from* 

http://www.mundanebehavior.org/issues/v2n1/pies.htm

- Plante, Thomas, G. (1999). Ten strategies for psychology trainees and practicing psychologists interested in avoiding ethical and legal perils. <u>Psychotherapy</u>, <u>36(4)</u>, 398-403.
- Plato (1989a). Apology. In Edith Hamilton & Huntington Cairns (eds.), <u>Plato: The</u> <u>Collected Dialogues</u>. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Plato (1989b). Republic. In Edith Hamilton & Huntington Cairns (eds.), <u>Plato: The</u> <u>Collected Dialogues</u>. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Pope, K. (n.d.). http://kspope.com/index.php downloaded October 23, 2005.

- Pope, K. (1990). Therapist-patient sexual involvement: a review of the research. <u>Clinical Psychology Review</u>, <u>10</u>, 477-490.
- Pope, K. & Vetter, V. A. (1992). Ethical dilemmas encountered by members of the American Psychological Association: A national survey. <u>American</u> <u>Psychologist</u>, <u>47</u>(3), 397-411.
- Pratt, Michael, W, Norris, Joan, E, Arnold, Mary Louise & Filyer, Rebecca, (1999).
  Generativity and moral development as predictors of value-socialization narratives for young persons across the adult lifespan: lessons learned to stories shared. <u>Psychology and Aging</u>, <u>14</u>(3), 414-426.

- Punzo, V.A., (1996). After Kohlberg: Virtue ethics and the recovery of the moral self.
  <u>Philosophical Psychology</u>, 9(1), 7-24.
- Putnam, Robert, D (2000). <u>Bowling Alone: The collapse and revival of American</u> <u>community</u>. New York: Simon & Schuster.

Ramis, Harold (1999). Analyze This. Written by Peter Tolan, Harold Ramis & Kenneth Lonergan. Script downloaded from

http://www.dailyscript.com/scripts/Analyze\_This.pdf

Saul, J. Raulston (2001). On Equilibrium. Toronto, ON: Penguin Books Canada Ltd.

Rétfalvi, T. & Simon, N.P (1998). Licensing, certification, registration, chartering, and credentialing. In L. Bass, S.T. DeMers, J.R.P. Ogloff, C. Peterson, J.L.
Pettifor, R.P. Reaves, T. Rétfalvi, Simon, N.P., C. Sinclair & R.M. Tipton, <u>Professional Conduct and Discipline in Psychology</u> (pp.39-52). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police (2006). RCMP history. Retrieved from

http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/history/history\_e.htm

Sargent, Alvin & Ziskin, Laura (1991). What about Bob? Motion Picture.

- Scott, B. & Russell, B. (1970). <u>He Ain't Heavy, He's My Brother</u>. Performed by Neil Diamond, <u>Tap Root Manuscript</u>, UNI/MCA.
- Shayamalan, M. Night (1999). <u>The Sixth Sense</u> [Motion Picture]. Buena Vista Pictures. Script downloaded from

http://home.online.no/~bhundlan/scripts/TheSixthSense.htm

Shinoda Bolen, Jean (2001). <u>Goddesses in Older Women</u>. New York: HarperCollins Publisher Inc. Shulhan, Karen (2005). Personal communication. Edmonton, Alberta.

- Silandanda, Venerable U (2002). The four foundations of mindfulness. Boston, MA: Wisdom Pulbications.
- Sinclair, Carole. (1998). Nine unique features of the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists. Canadian Psychology, 39(3), 167-176.
- Sinclair, C, Poinzer, S., Gilmour-Barrett, K., Randall, D. (1987). The development of a code of ethics for Canadian psychologists. <u>Canadian Psychology</u>, 28, 1-11.
- Sinclair, C., Poizner, S., Gilmour-Barrett & Randall, D. (1991). The development of a code of ethics for Canadian psychologists. In Carole Sinclair & Jean Pettifor (Eds.), <u>Companion Manual to the Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists</u> (1-11). Old Chelsea, Quebec: Canadian Psychological Association.

Singer, Peter (2000). Writings on an ethical life. New York: Ecco.

- Smith, T.S., McGuire, J.M., Abbott, D.W., & Blau, B.I. (1991). Clinical Ethical Decision-making: An Investigation of the Rationales Used to Justify Doing Less than One Believes One Should. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and</u> <u>Practice, 22(3), 235-239.</u>
- Spohn, William C. (1992). The return of virtue ethics. <u>Theological Studies</u>, 53(1), 60-74.
- Stevens, P. (2000). The ethics of being ethical. <u>The Family Journal: Counseling and</u> <u>Therapy for Couples and Families, 8(2), 177-178.</u>

Tobias, Robert (2003). Continuing professional education and professionalization: travelling without a map or compass. <u>International Journal of lifelong</u> <u>Education</u>, <u>22(5)</u>, 445-456. Truscott, Derek & Crook, Kenneth, H. (2004). Ethics for the Practice of Psychology in Canada. Edmonton, Canada: University of Alberta Press.

- Valle, R. & King, M. (1978). An Introduction to Existential-Phenomenological Thought in Psychology. In R. Valle and M. King (Eds.) <u>Existential</u> <u>Phenomenological Alternatives for Psychology</u> (pp. 3-17). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Vanhoozer, Kevin J. (2005). Discourse on matter: Hermeneutics and the 'miracle' of understanding. International Journal of Systematic Theology, 7(1), 5-37.
- Vanlaere, Linus & Gastmans, Chris (2005). The ethical and philosophical foundations of care ethics. <u>Nursing Ethics</u>, <u>12(2)</u>, 200-201.
- Van Manen, Max (1998). <u>Researching lived experience: Human science for an action</u> <u>sensitive pedagogy</u>. London, Canada: The Althouse Press.
- Vasquez, M.J.T., (1996). Will virtue ethics improve ethical conduct in multicultural settings and interactions? <u>Counseling Psychologist</u>, <u>28</u>(2), 242-252.
- Vitz, Paul C. (1990). The use of stories in moral development: New psychological reasons for an old education method. <u>American Psychologist</u>, <u>45</u>(6),709-720
- Walker, Margaret Urban (1993). Keeping moral space open. <u>Hasting Center Report</u>, <u>23(2)</u>, 33-40.
- Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary (1979). Toronto, Ontario: Thomas Allen & Son Limited.
- Welfel, Elizabeth Reynolds (1992). Psychologist as ethics educator: Successes, failures, and unanswered questions. <u>Professional Psychology: Research and</u> <u>Practice</u>, 23(3), 182-189.

Welker, Linda S. (2004). Extending the bounds of interpretive inquiry: Toward a performance approach to organizational studies. <u>Atlantic Journal of</u> <u>Communication</u>, <u>12(1)</u>, 46-57.

White, R.D. (1999). Are women more ethical? Recent findings on the effects of gender upon moral development. <u>Journal of Public Administration: Research</u> <u>& Theory</u>, <u>9</u>(3), 459-462.

Wikipedia (2005). http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Archipelago

Williams, Martin (1993). <u>The Jazz Tradition</u>, 2<sup>nd</sup> Revised Edition. New York: Oxford University Press.

Wilson, L.S. & Ranft, V.A. (1993). The state of ethical training for counselling psychology doctoral students. <u>Counseling Psychologist</u>, <u>21</u>(3), 70-76.

Wolfinger, N.H., Rabow, J., & Newcomb, M.D. (1999). The different voices of helping: gender differences in recounting dilemmas. <u>Gender Issues</u>, <u>17</u>(3), 70-76.

Yalom, Irving (1980). Existential psychotherapy. New York: Basic Books.

Yoder, Scot (1998). The Nature of Ethical Expertise. Hasting Center Report, 28(6),

11-19.

Young Lawyers - Canadian Bar Association (2005).

http://www.cba.org/CBA/YoungLawyers/Main/

Zahavi, Dan (2003). <u>Husserl's Phenomenology</u>. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Appendix A: Invitation to Participate in the Identification of Exemplars

### Introduction to the researcher

My name is Ann Marie Dewhurst. I am currently completing my Doctorate in the Department of Educational Psychology - Counselling Psychology program at the University of Alberta. This is an accredited program with the Canadian Psychological Association. My dissertation is entitled "The Essence of Being an Ethical Psychologist". My primary supervisor is Dr. Derek Truscott, of the Counselling Program.

I graduated with a Master's degree in Clinical Psychology from the University of Regina in 1991 and chartered as a psychologist in Alberta in 1994. I am a forensic psychologist with a specialization in working with perpetrators of sexual abuse and family violence. I am currently the manager of the psychology department for the Northern Alberta/Northwest Territories Parole District of the Correctional Service of Canada. I also have a small private practice.

### Introduction to this research project

The purpose of this study is to explore the practical wisdom of psychologists. I am interested in learning what it means for psychologists to be ethical and to explore the essence of that experience. Hopefully, through this study more will be learned about how psychologists develop and integrate ethics into their practice. Recommendations may come out of this study that will influence how ethics are taught.

## **Request for participation**

A peer nomination process is being used in this study to identify exemplars of ethical practice. An Exemplar is someone who is fit to be imitated or a model of

behaviour that typifies a highly ethical psychologist. By definition all chartered psychologists have met the accepted standard of ethical behaviour for psychologists.

However, some psychologists seem to be ethical in a manner that suggests that they are more ethically fluent than the norm. It is these people that I would like to identify and interview. This process starts by asking people to nominate Exemplars and continues until several people nominate specific psychologists. Those psychologists nominated by at least 4 peers will be approached to participate in this study.

You are being asked to nominate a psychologist(s) that you know to be an exemplar of ethical practice. Exemplars nominated must be someone: a) with whom you have direct ethics-related experience; b) whom you would personally feel no hesitation to consult should an ethical dilemma arise; c) who is a chartered psychologist for at least 5 years; d) who is in good standing with the College of Alberta Psychologists; and, e) who is currently in active clinical practice (i.e., not purely academic or managerial).

Your participation in this process is two fold: a) to nominate one or more psychologists whom you believe to be exemplars of being an ethical psychologist, and b) to a written response about your experience of nominating an exemplar. The written response may be given directly to the researcher or if you choose to have your response be anonymous, it may be returned in a sealed envelope within a larger envelope by mail to the researcher's supervisor. Alternatively participants can send their responses via email to the researcher or to Dr. Truscott who will remove all identifying data before forwarding responses to the researcher.

# Limits of Confidentiality

All information shared with the researchers (Ann Marie Dewhurst and Dr. Truscott) will be kept in a secure, locked area to which only the researchers have access. Names and identifying details will be removed or modified from any data before it is utilized in this research. You may withdraw from this study at any time by informing either the researcher or her advisor.

The person(s) you nominated may be contacted to participate in this study if other psychologists name them as well. They will be informed about how they were nominated but not by whom.

## **Use of Collected Data**

This data will be used to complete my Doctoral Dissertation. I may submit the completed work at conferences or in publications. Quotes from participants that illustrate or epitomize the themes generated will be used, however, anonymity of the contributor will be maintained.

This study was approved through the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board.

I agree to participate in this study

Name

Date

Witness name

Date

I may be contacted by:

Phone: \_\_\_\_\_

Email:

Appendix B: Informed Consent for Exemplars Participating in the Study

## Introduction to the researcher

My name is Ann Marie Dewhurst. I am currently completing my Doctorate in the Department of Educational Psychology - Counselling Psychology program at the University of Alberta. This is an accredited program with the Canadian Psychological Association. My dissertation is entitled "On being an ethical psychologist". My primary supervisor is Dr. Derek Truscott, of the Counselling Program.

I graduated with a Master's degree in Clinical Psychology from the University of Regina in 1991 and chartered as a psychologist in Alberta in 1994. I am a forensic psychologist with a specialization in working with perpetrators of sexual abuse and family violence. I am currently the manager of the psychology department for the Northern Alberta/Northwest Territories Parole District of the Correctional Service of Canada. I also have a small private practice.

## Introduction to this research project

The purpose of this study is to explore the practical wisdom of psychologists. I am interested in learning what it means for psychologists to be ethical and to explore the essence of that experience. The factors associated with ongoing ethical resiliency have not been clearly determined. Hopefully, through this study more will be learned about how to psychologists develop and integrate ethical resiliency.

Recommendations may come out of this study that will influence how ethics are taught.

## **Request for participation**

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

You have been nominated by several of your peers as someone who is considered an exemplar of ethical behaviour, i.e., someone who models "being ethical" in a manner that supports others being ethical too. Nominated exemplars were considered by their peers to be: a) someone with whom they had direct ethicsrelated experience; b) whom they personally felt no hesitation to consult should an ethical dilemma arise; c) were chartered psychologists for at least 5 years; d) were in good standing with the College of Alberta Psychologists; and, e) were currently in active clinical practice (i.e., not purely academic or managerial).

By definition all chartered psychologists are considered to have met the accepted standard of ethical behaviour for psychologists. However, some psychologists seem to be ethical in a manner that suggests that they are more ethically fluent than the norm. Your peers consider you one such person.

Your participation in an interview is requested. There are four elements to your involvement: a) completion of a short demographic questions regarding your age, level and type of graduate training, years of chartered psychological practice, years of work in a related "helping" profession and the nature of your of current practice, b) participating in a conversation about your experience of being ethical, c) completion of a written or verbal response about your experience of participating in the conversation about ethics, and, d) you may be asked, at a later date, to reflect on the themes that arise from the conversation transcript in an effort to develop greater insight into the essence of being ethical. Oral responses will be audio taped at the end of the interview. Written responses may be completed following the interview while the researcher waits or returned to the researcher via mail or email.

The interview will be tape-recorded and a written transcript will be created. Once the transcript is completed and checked for accuracy, the tape will be destroyed. All transcripts will be coded and identifying data modified to protect anonymity in any subsequent writings.

### Limits of Confidentiality

All information shared with the researcher will be kept in a secure, locked area in which only the researchers have access. Only the researchers will listen to the taped interviews. All interviews will be transcribed from audiotape into written form immediately after the interview. The data will be coded at that time and identifying data will be eliminated. Names and identifying details will be removed or modified before data is shared. You may withdraw from this study at any time by informing either the researcher or her advisor. However, if you choose to withdraw after I have moved into the thematic analysis stage, it will be virtually impossible to remove one person's comments. However, direct quotes attributed to you will be excluded and you will not be contacted as part of any feedback process.

As a Chartered Psychologist I have an obligation to report my knowledge of violations of the Standards of Practice to the College of Alberta Psychologists. Participants should take care not to disclose code violations. If the acts of others are referred to in the interview, it is important that names and identifying data be avoided or significantly changed to prevent identification.

This study was approved through the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board.

I agree to participate in this study

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

158

Name

Date

Witness name

Date

Appendix C: Sample Interview Questions

# **Interview Questions**

1. What has influenced you most in the development of your ethics?

- 2. What is difficult/easy about being an ethical psychologist?
- 3. What was your most important learning experience [related to ethics] that you have had to date?
- 4. Are there factors (internal or external to you) that support your ethical practice?

5. What types of ethical issues do you encounter in your practice?

6. Describe one incident that exemplifies your experience of being ethical.

7. How has your awareness of being ethical changed over the course of your practice?

8. Knowing what you know now about the realities of being an ethical psychologist, what would have been helpful for you to know as a newly chartered psychologist?

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.